
Commission Meeting 
Agenda 

March 9, 2022 



 
The Port of Benton Commission Meetings are not open to the public at this time.  Pursuant to Governor Inslee’s 
Proclamation 20-28.15, a Proclamation by the Governor amending and extending Proclamations 20-05, 20-25, and 20-
28, et. Seq. as they relate to the Open Public Meetings Act, and Public Records Act, as well as CR 8402, members of 
the public will not be able to attend the regularly scheduled Commission meeting in person. 
 
The regular Commission Meeting will be live broadcast via Zoom and made available using a telephone conference 
call-in line.  The link to access this broadcast via Zoom, as well as the call-in number to participate via telephone, will 
be made available on the morning of the meeting on the Port of Benton’s website at the link below, along with the 
meeting agenda, and minutes from past meetings.  Live broadcast information: www.portofbenton.com/commission 
 
For those unable to access the internet, please call 509-375-3060 by 8:00 a.m. on March 9, 2022 to be provided with 
call-in details. 

 
All participants will be muted upon entry; when prompted click ‘raise hand’ in zoom or dial star + 9 (*9) to raise your 
hand. The host will unmute you to speak in the order hands are raised, when the host calls on you, press star + 6 (*6) 
to unmute yourself. 
 

 
 

PORT OF BENTON 
 REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING  

Agenda 
8:30 a.m., March 9, 2022 

2140 Wine Country Rd., Prosser, WA  99350 
 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

C. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Approval of Agenda 
 

2. Approval of Minutes from the February 16, 2022 Commission Meeting 
 

3. Approval of Minutes from the February 18, 2022 Special Commission 
Workshop 
 

4. Approval of Vouchers and Certifications, Including Payroll for Month of 
February Totaling $755,155.24 
 

5. Approval of Project Fund Vouchers and Certifications for the Month of 
February Totaling $18,333.75 
 

http://www.portofbenton.com/


 
 

 
 
D. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
E. ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

1. Welcome and Update from Tom Glover, City of Prosser 
 

2. Welcome and Update from John-Paul Estey, Prosser Chamber of 
Commerce 
 

3. Welcome and Update from Neal Ripplinger, Prosser Economic 
Development Association 
 

4. Resolution 22-12, Amending Resolution 22-09 Regarding Authorization 
of Submittal of an Application to the US Economic Development 
Administration (EDA) 
 

5. HDR Construction Management Contract for Derailment Damage Repair 
 

F. INFORMATION REPORTS 
 

1. Grants Update 
 

2. Prosser Airport Presentation 
 

3. Discussion of Standard Airport Lease Agreement Draft 
 

G. COMMISSIONER REPORTS/COMMENTS 
 

H. DIRECTOR REPORTS/COMMENTS 
 

1. Airports  
2. Facilities & Operations   
3. Real Estate  
4. Marketing  
5. Economic Development & Governmental   
6. Finance Director  
7. Port Attorney 
8. Executive Director 

 



I. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  Ongoing Litigation, Real Estate and Personnel  
 

J. BREAK:  Teleconference and Zoom options will terminate at this time. 
Commission will take this time to travel to the Prosser Airport for a tour. 
 

K. TOUR OF PROSSER AIRPORT:  Open to public attendance. No action will take 
place during or after the public tour of the airport. 
 

L. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
A special meeting is scheduled for March 23, 2022 at 8:30 a.m. 
 
The next regularly scheduled Port of Benton Commission meeting is Wednesday, 
April 13, 2022.  Visit portofbenton.com for notices and information. 

https://portofbenton.com/about-the-port/commission/


Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 1 
 

 
PORT OF BENTON  

COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES  
FEBRUARY 16, 2022  

  
  

A.  CALL TO ORDER:  The regular monthly meeting was called to order at 8:31 a.m. at the Port of Benton 
Commission Meeting Room, 3250 Port of Benton Boulevard, Richland, Washington. 
 
PRESENT:  Commissioner Christy L. Rasmussen; Commissioner Roy D. Keck; Commissioner Lori Stevens; 
Executive Director, Diahann Howard, PPM®; Executive Administrator, Summers Miya; Director of 
Economic Development & Governmental Affairs, Miles Thomas  
 
The following attendees attended via remote communications: Director of Finance/CPA, Danielle 
Connor; Port Attorney, David Billetdeaux; Director of Real Estate, Teresa Hancock; Director 
of Marketing, Wally Williams; Contract Specialist, Sheri Collins; Director of Facilities & Operations, Ron 
Branine; Roger Wright, RGW Enterprises; Senior Accountant, Veronica Serna; Tri-Cities Area Journal of 
Business, Wendy Culverwell; Century West Engineering, Bryan Condon; Stacy & Witbeck, Steve Wood; 
City of Richland, Theresa Richardson; Hanford Communities, David Reeploeg; Federal Aviation 
Administration, Peter Doyle; Federal Aviation Administration, Mandi Lesauis 
 
 The Commission Meeting was conducted using the CDC (Centers for 
Disease Control) recommended social distancing protocols for COVID-19 with Commissioners meeting 
in-person; public attending remotely and Port staff members participating in-person or remotely, and 
said meeting was noticed as required by RCW 42.30.070.    
  
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Commissioner Lori Stevens led those present in reciting the Pledge 
of Allegiance.   
 
C. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Lori Stevens, seconded by Commissioner Roy Keck, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving the January 12, 2022 Commission Meeting 
Minutes, approval of vouchers and certifications, including payroll, for the month of January totaling 
$443,490.82, approval of project vouchers and certifications for the month of January totaling 
$1,222.25, Resolution 22-07, to cancel warrant No. 079227 in the amount of $1,933.08, which was 
printed, but deemed destroyed and Resolution 22-08, to cancel warrant No. 079274 in the amount of 
$2,986.25, which was incorrectly printed. 
 

D.  PUBLIC COMMENT:  
  
 There were no comments from the public. 

E.  ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

1.  2021 Derailment Repair Project 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 2 
 

RGW Enterprises Engineer, Roger Wright announced that on behalf of the Port of Benton, bids 
were recently solicited for the repair of the railroad track south of the 2020 derailment and added that 
this project includes replacing the ties damaged during the removal and clean-up of the derailed cars.  
Wright stated that this project also will include repairs to a pier pad on the Columbia Park Trail Bridge 
that requires immediate replacement as well as the installation of 300 ties on City of Richland’s Horn 
Rapids Industrial Spur.  Wright stated that the City’s portion of the work will be paid by the City, under a 
recently approved Interlocal Agreement approved by Port Commission at the January 2022 meeting.  
 
 Wright noted that two bids were received for this works and provided a summary of the bids: 

Bidder  Port Base Bid  City Portion  Total Bid with Tax 

Railworks $430,189.58  $48,870.00  $479,059.58 
 Stacy/Witbeck $508,739.96  $73,047.62  $581,787.58 

Wright stated that after review of the bid packages, the design consultant HDR Engineering is 
recommending that Railworks be found as lowest responsive bidder and a contract be awarded to 
complete this work.  Wright added that in addition to the construction projects, a request to 
Commission of to approve a contingency for change in the amount of $25k, or 5%, to be approved by 
the Executive Director.  
 Wright clarified that the Port is asking for approval of Railworks Track Systems, LLC to complete 
the Derailment Damage Repair Project in the amount of $479,059.58 as well as approval of a 
contingency budget of up to $25k for required change orders, which would be approved by the 
Executive Director.  

A motion was made by Commissioner Roy Keck, seconded by Commissioner Lori Stevens and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving the selection of Railworks Track Systems, LLC to 
complete the Derailment Repair Project in the amount of $479,059.58 with an additional approval of a 
$25,000 contingency budget for required change orders to be approved by the Executive Director.  

2.  Resolution 22-09, A Resolution Authorizing Submittal of an Application to the U.S. 
Economic Development Administration with Washington Maritime Blue to Fund Development of the 
Advanced Energy Innovation and Commercialization Center 

  Director of Economic Development & Governmental Affairs, Miles Thomas reminded the 
Commission that the Port had previously applied, in conjunction with Washington Maritime Blue, for 
Phase I funding through the Build Back Better Regional Program, which was funded by the American 
Rescue Plan and was successfully selected as an awardee.   
 Thomas stated that Phase II of the program is available for applications at this time, with a short 
turnaround time and the Port is interested in applying for additional financing of $2,500,000 from the 
Community Economic Revitalization Fund for infrastructure and construction cost. 
 Thomas noted that the region has had need for a development space for many years and the 
proposed space will support lab opportunities, education, connectivity with workforce development and 
prototype development.  Thomas added that several partners have expressed an interest as a potential 
tenant of the development space, which would be approximately 40,000 sq ft. of space and located in 
the Richland Industrial Center, south of University Drive.  
 Thomas stated that he is hoping for three letters of commitment from potential users of the 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 3 
 

space and has already received two vocal commitments from strong businesses in the district.  Thomas 
added that at least two letters of commitment must be in hand in order to apply to EDA. 
 Thomas noted that if selected, EDA would award $12M, CERB would award $2.5M and the Port 
would contribute $500k from the 2023 budget and the Port funds would go towards the design.  
Thomas stated that the project fulfills a lot of work going towards advanced nuclear projects with 
contractors, along with work in cyber security and advanced energy.  
 Thomas added that in addition to the development space, a mesh network would be created 
across north Richland, as part of a long-term plan. 
 Executive Director, Diahann Howard added that there is a lot of excitement coming from the 
community as this space has the ability to bring businesses together with university and training 
providers.  Howard added that the space focuses on the Diversity, Equity, Inclusion program and would 
be in cross-connection with a statewide business network. 
 Thomas added that the building itself would be set up to handle deliveries from 18-wheelers, 
with a large loading dock. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Lori Stevens, seconded by Commissioner Roy Keck and 
unanimously passed by the Commission, approving Resolution 22-09, authorizing submittal of an 
application to the U.S. Development Administration with Washington Maritime Blue to fund 
development of the Advanced Energy Innovation and Commercialization Center. 

 3. Resolution 22-10, A Resolution Authorizing Submittal of an Application to the Community 
Economic Revitalization Board (CERB) for Infrastructure to Support the Advanced Energy Innovation 
and Commercialization Center 

 Director of Economic Development & Governmental Affairs, Miles Thomas noted that 
Resolution 22-09 and 22-10 go hand-in-hand and 22-10 is an application to ask CERB for the $2.5M for 
the Advanced Energy Innovation and Commercialization Center.  

A motion was made by Commissioner Roy Keck, seconded by Commissioner Lori Stevens and 
unanimously passed by the Commission, authorizing submittal of an application to the Community 
Economic Revitalization Board (CERB) for infrastructure to support the Advanced Energy Innovation 
and Commercialization Center. 

 4. Phase 2 Carpet Replacement Project at 2345 Stevens Dr. to Luke’s Carpet for $72,692.32 
 
 Director of Facilities & Operations, Ron Branine stated that request for bids were emailed to 
every company on the Small Works Roster under Floor Covering, with bids being due January 21, 2022.  
Branine stated that three bids were submitted, and the low bidder was Luke’s Carpet & Design Center at 
$66,935.84, and with tax $72,692.32.  Branine added that this project was budgeted for $85k. 
 Branine reminded the Commission that Phase 1 of this project included the hallways of 2345 
Stevens Drive and Phase 2 will include the south half of the building and all offices.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Lori Stevens, seconded by Commissioner Roy Keck and 
unanimously passed by the Commission, approving phase 2 carpet replacement project at 2345 
Stevens Drive to Luke’s Carpet for $72,692.32. 
 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 4 
 

 5.  Resolution 22-11, Acceptance of Work Completed by Paintmaster, Inc. at 2345 Stevens Dr. 
for $77,974.80 
 
 Director of Facilities & Operations, Ron Branine announced that Paintmaster, Inc. has completed 
the Interior Painting Project at 2345 Stevens Drive at a total cost of $77,974.80, adding that the project 
budget was $75k. 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Roy Keck, seconded by Commissioner Lori Stevens and 
unanimously passed by the Commission, accepting the work completed by Paintmaster, Inc. at 2345 
Stevens Drive for $77,974.80. 
 
  
F.  INFORMATION REPORTS: 

 1.   Hanford Communities Presentation:  

 Hanford Communities Executive Director, David Reeploeg provided an update on Hanford 
Communities beginning with an overview on the history and formation of Hanford Communities, which 
was created in 1994 to coordinate local government involvement on Hanford-related issues, increase 
public awareness and involvement in the Hanford cleanup issues, advocate for community priorities 
related to Hanford and provide technical and analytical resources to review, evaluate and monitor 
conditions and policies at Hanford. 

Reeploeg went over the governing board, which includes local elected officials, to the 
administrative board. 

Reeploeg provided an overview on 2021 priorities, including information on the Tank B-109 leak, 
DFLAW & TSCR completion and construction and startup testing, groundwater treatment and risk 
mitigation and explained that COVID-19 shaped 2021.   

Reeploeg briefed the Commission on policy, stating that the current administration affirms HLW 
interpretation, proposed the elimination of Payment in lieu of Taxes (PILT) funding and spoke of the 
current Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. 

Reeploeg explained that a much larger contract will hopefully be in place this year, adding that 
there is hope it will be a better scenario for the community and businesses.   

Reeploeg stated that community engagement was up in 2021, with the release of three 
Hanford-related videos, including Hanford 101, Tank Waste and WTP/DFLAW information videos.  In 
addition to videos, Reeploeg added that quarterly newsletters are sent out and there are regular blog 
posts and social media posts that focus on key issues at Hanford.  Reeploeg noted that this was made 
possible through funding received and has been a great resource for the community.  

Reeploeg highlighted the 2022 outlook of Hanford communities, which focus on cleanup and 
policy, with cleanup keying in on TSCR operations, DFLAW melter heat-up, continued risk mitigation, test 
bed initiative.  Reeploeg stated that policy focuses on updated cost and schedule report with a goal of 
the active cleanup to be complete in 2078 at an estimated cost of $300B - $640B.  Reeploeg added other 
policy focused items being PILT and consent based siting. 
 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 5 
 

 2.   Richland Airport Presentation: 
 Engineer Roger Wright provided a thorough overview of the Richland Airport through a 
PowerPoint presentation including information on the history of the airport, important and key dates, 
integral moments, operators and design, including a present-day look at the airport along with plans for 
future growth and development. Wright highlighted the City of Richland 2017 Comprehensive Plan 
"Essential Public Facilities” portion, which in Policy 7 states: “Ensure that land uses surrounding the 
Richland Airport are compatible with existing and future airport operations and do not restrict the 
airport’s ability to maintain or expand its existing and future aviation demands.  Coordinate with the Port 
of Benton to restrict land uses in airport areas that would create conflict or negatively impact the safe 
and effective airport operations.” 
 Wright featured information on current capabilities and explained the needs that would allow 
for larger aircraft utilizing more of the airport, which includes more corporate aircraft and hangar space.  
 Wright highlighted a 2020 WSDOT Aviation Study for the Washington Aviation System which 
states: “The study revealed the state’s 134 public-use airport system contributes 407,042 jobs, $26.8B in 
labor income and $107B in total economic impact (business revenue) to our state’s economy and 
communities.” Wright pointed out that this study projected that Richland Airport estimated that 
Richland Airport provided 673 jobs and an economic impact to the community of $112,443,000. 
 Wright provided an overview of the Richland Airport facilities and structures and presented on 
the preferred alternative for the future as part as the Master Plan that is currently under FAA review. 
 Wright described the current Richland Airport Electrical Replacement Project, which will take 
place this year and is 100% FAA-funded, at $3.15M, a direct benefit of the Infrastructure and Jobs Act.  
Wright added that the Port is working on a public information campaign related to this project, as 
construction and FAA guidelines will require approximately a two-week shutdown of both runways and 
project updates are sent out regularly, posted to the Port website and Port social media.  
 Wright announced that the Port FAA funded projects since 1975 include 67 projects and total 
over $26M in funding.  Wright reminded that there is a 20-year grant assurance with every FAA-funded 
project.  

 3.  Federal Aviation Administration Presentation:  

 Peter Doyle, Regional Program Compliance Manager for the FAA’s Northwest Mountain Region 
and Mandi Lesauis, also with the Washington region for FAA presented on current FAA guidelines and 
regulations.  Doyle explained that he assists airports in making sure all are in line and adhering to their 
grant assurances and explained that it is advisable to stay ahead of any issues. 
 Doyle provided examples of FAA various grant assurances including:  Exclusive rights (cannot 
grant exclusive rights to an FBO, must allow for competition), fee and rental structure, Fair Market Value 
must be reasonable for tenants to access the airport, and the airport must strive to be as self-
sustainable as possible, airport land use needs to protect the aviation use, land use compatibility around 
the airport must not conflict with the airport use, the Port must ensure the airport around the land is 
compatible and within airport/FAA compliance with respect to height obstructions.  
 Doyle added that grants have a 20-year duration and the clock is restarted every time the Port 
takes on a new grant, which suggests that both airports will be under grant assurances forever.  
However, since the federal government and specifically the FAA participated in purchase of much of the 
land around the airport, that requires airport use in perpetuity.  
 Doyle noted that he does not recall many (or any) compliance issues with either Port of Benton 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 6 
 

operated airports. 
 Doyle confirmed that it is important for airports to adhere to the hangar use policies in place 
and although some storage can be non-aeronautical, the hangar must be functional as an aeronautical 
space and able to store an aircraft and the airport does not want to be used or seen as a storage 
property.  Doyle also stated that no residential use is permitted under FAA guidelines on airport grounds 
per grant assurances and added that exceptions are very limited, such as for medi-vac or crew quarters.  

 4.  Grants & Governmental Update: 

 Executive Director, Diahann Howard announced that she would be providing an update on 
project number 10, listed on the grants report that was included in the meeting packet, as item 10 is the 
only addition, or update, from last month. 

Howard introduced this project, the National Highway Freight Program (WSDOT portion), and 
explained that this project includes a SR 240 rail signal and crossing reconstruction and the City of 
Richland is jointly submitting with the Port on this project, as the City will be installing a bike and 
pedestrian path on the north side of the crossing and WSDOT already has plans to widen SR 240 from 
Bypass Highway to Hagen Road.   

 Howard added that the Port would submit $135k for this improvement project and WSDOT, 
$865k and the grant application is due March 1, 2022 with an award date of late 2022 and construction 
commencing in 2023. 

 5.  2019 & 2020 Financial Statement & Accountability Audit Update: 

 Director of Finance/CPA, Danielle Connor provided an update on the recently completed 2019 
and 2020 Accountability and Financial Statement audits and reminded the Commission that no single 
audit was required, as the Port was under the threshold of federal funds.   
 Connor announced that the Port of Benton received an unqualified, “clean”, opinion from the 
Washington State Auditor’s Office.  
 Connor informed that financial statement audits offer a clear picture of the Port’s financial 
reporting and internal controls, and are also required per debt covenants and grant funding. 
 Connor added that accountability audits determine whether the Port complied with applicable 
local, state, and federal laws and regulations, as well as the Port’s own policies and procedures. 
 Connor stated that per expectations, there were immaterial exit items that the finance team will 
be taking into consideration while performing year-end reconciliations, and closing and compiling the 
financial statements for 2021.  Connor added that this is a continuous improvement process and the 
team effort of all departments is expansive and not just a finance team effort. 
 Connor added that there is an intention to increase transparency and visibility to stakeholders, 
taxpayers and the community.   
 Connor noted that financial statements were filed on EMMA, as required per bond continuing 
disclosure compliance procedures.  
 Connor added that the audited statements will be posted on the Port website and are also 
accessible to the public via the SAO’s website.  

 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 7 
 

G.  COMMISSIONER REPORTS/COMMENTS:  
 

Commissioner Lori Stevens announced that she had recently met with the Prosser Chamber of 
Commerce and the Prosser Economic Development Association, as she will be the Port representative 
for both organizations. 
 Commissioner Stevens stated that there is a lot going on in Prosser currently, with the new 
housing developments and the groundbreaking for the new hospital.  Commissioner Stevens also 
commented on the current project involving the drilling under the freeway for utilities, which has 
caused road closures in Vintners Village, which has added a detour route to the tasting rooms in the 
Village. 
 Commissioner Stevens stated that she attended the Prosser Community Awards Banquet at the 
Walter Clore Center and also announced that the Chamber’s Sip & Stroll event will take place on March 
12th to support downtown businesses.  

Commissioner Rasmussen stated that she had the opportunity to be present in the recent audit 
conference and also participated in Washington Port Day via Zoom.   
 Commissioner Rasmussen added that she also attend the Prosser Community Awards Banquet 
and complimented the staff for the table décor. 
 Commissioner Rasmussen added that she also recently attended the PNWA Inland Empire 
Waterway meeting and found it very informative.   

Commissioner Keck stated that he found the WPPA legislative update quite informative. 

 
H.  DIRECTOR REPORTS/COMMENTS: 

 1.  AIRPORTS: 
 Director of Facilities & Operations, Ron Branine thanked Engineer, Roger Wright for his earlier 
presentation and noted that he did not have much to add, aside from the RFP for the 1865 Bronco Lane 
building has closed and also thanked Director of Real Estate, Teresa Hancock on her in-depth knowledge 
of airport guidelines. 
 Director Real Estate, Teresa Hancock stated that she continues to put forth an on-going effort 
towards airport-related tasks, including ongoing lease administration, Yardi and Intacct updates, which 
will provide efficiency reporting from the Port to clients and partners.  

2.  FACILITIES & OPERATIONS: 
 Director of Facilities & Operations, Ron Branine stated that the 2345 Lighting Project is still 
ongoing, as supply chair interruptions have further delayed the completion.  Branine reminded the 
Commission that this was a $226k project approved last year, but will the ongoing delays, the project 
has not been completed, but is at 98%. 
 Branine stated that the Phase 2 Carpet Installation Project at 2345 Stevens Drive will begin on 
the south end of the building, upstairs, in March. 
 Branine added that the Phase 1 scope of work for the HMIS buildout of the space previously 
occupied by Intermech, was released and closed last week, which Director of Real Estate, Teresa 
Hancock will send to HMIS for their approval and task order.  Branine added that they will then be able 
to award the selected contractor and HMIS has stated that they would like to present one package to 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 8 
 

DOE, rather than separate phases.  Branine added that Phase 1 will be the pallet racking system and 
floor paint throughout the warehouse space.  Branine added that they also want several offices built, a 
breakroom, and battery charging station for their electric forklifts. 
 Branine announced that the HVAC unit for Total Site Services on Salk has finally arrived and 
installation will be scheduled for March. 
 Branine added that the team is still completing several small LED light conversions in different 
areas, with most having a less than five-year ROI, with some as low as one-year. 
 Branine stated that the turnover at 2880 Lee Road, Ste. B in the Prosser Wine & Food Park is 
ongoing, but will soon be complete.  Branine stated that this included painting, wall removal, door repair 
and replacement, testing of all HVAC components, floor cleaning and refinish in addition to other small 
finish work.  
 Branine announced that Crow Butte Park is about 30 days out from opening and the team is on 
task to complete the electrical line replacement this week.  Branine reminded the Commission that the 
main electrical line from the pump dock to the pump house lost two of its three legs early last year and 
they were unable to locate where the break took place.  Branine noted that because of the age of the 
line and the fact that the line is in direct bury cable and not in conduit, plus the encroaching tree roots, 
which are more than likely the main issue, they will trench 1,600 ft. and put 2” conduit for the new wire 
to be pulled through.  Branine stated that this will better ensure the line will remain intact for the 
future. 
 Branine added that they are also ordering two new smart parking meters to help with capturing 
day use fees, which will eliminate the need to manage this process manually.  Branine noted that he is 
still waiting for Army Corps approval on this, with plans submitted in October.  

3.  REAL ESTATE: 
  Director of Real Estate, Teresa Hancock announced that spring has sprung at the Port, with 
many leads for land, aeronautical and ongoing lease administration is in full-motion.  
 Hancock provided an update on new lease developments, starting with the Prosser Wine & Food 
Park, announcing that a new lease has been signed within the Executive Director’s Delegation of 
Authority at 2880 Lee Rd., Ste. B, which is a 2,400 sq ft. space, formerly occupied by Wit Cellars.  
Hancock announced that the new tenant is Tirridis Sparkling Wines and the partners are Gabriel Crowell, 
Andrew Gerow and Matthew Doutney, all who have navigated from the east coast, the Midwest and the 
Island of Cyprus, and all bonded as students attending the WSU Viticulture and Enology Program.  
Hancock added that the trio own and operate “Non-Vintage Wines” in Richland and specialize in selling 
boutique, limited production wines that sell between $9 - $300/bottle.  Hancock added that the 
sparkling wine concept was incubated within neighboring 4 Feathers Winery/Zirkle Fruit. 
 Hancock stated that the key terms of the lease for this start-up business include the tasting 
room and warehouse of Suite B with a lease term of one year plus four one-year renewal terms based 
upon good standing.  Hancock added that the Port staff is completing paint, sheetrock, concrete updates 
and minor repairs with an early occupancy date of March 1, 2022 (LET/Utilities) and revenue 
commencing on April 1, 2022.  Hancock added that the revenue impact is $11,250 plus LET, which will 
increase in annual intervals to $18k by year five.  Hancock noted that the Tirridus business plan reflects 
sale growth and feels that this business is a terrific candidate to relocate to Vintners Village.  
 Hancock provided an update on the 3250 Port of Benton Blvd., Ste. B space, which is 1,491 sq ft. 
and is the space formerly occupied by Iso-Pacific and Cowan Law Firm, announcing that a new lease has 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 9 
 

been put in place under the Executive Director’s Delegation of Authority with Edgewater Technical 
Associates, which provides technical and contracting services for Hanford projects.  Hancock stated that 
Edgewater is a current tenant at 3100 George Washington Way, currently occupying 797 sq ft. since 
2018. 
 Hancock added that Port staff were in discussions for a larger space with the previous two 
Edgewater manager’s, but with the onset of COVID-19, discussion was derailed with reduction of staff 
and remote work. 
 Hancock provided an overview of the key terms of the lease, stating that the business has five(+) 
employees and has signed a three-year term, commencing March 1, 2022 through February 28, 2025.  
Hancock noted that revenue will commence on March 1, at $1,653.13/month + NNN and with renewal 
terms to negotiate full market value for a secondary term in 2025.  Hancock added that the revenue 
impact will be $19,837.56/year + LET and $59,512.68 for the term of the lease.  Hancock commented 
that the Port is pleased to retain a growing business, reduce vacancy and attract new smaller 
companies.  
 Hancock provided an updated on the Richland Business Park two story space recently vacated 
by the Atkins Nuclear reduction of space stating that the Stevens Drive director signage updates and 
office space availability panel is underway. 

4. MARKETING:  

Director of Marketing, Wally Williams announced that he is working on the final tweaks of the 
State of the Ports video, which he is preparing for the Tri-City Regional Chamber luncheon on February 
23 at the Red Lion Hotel in Pasco.   

Williams added that he is also working with Executive Director, Diahann Howard to complete a 
PowerPoint and brochure for the Pacific Northwest Clean Energy Innovation Hub presentation to DOE. 

Williams added that he has been working with the Facilities team and Director of Economic 
Development & Governmental Affairs, Miles Thomas on new direction signs that will be placed around 
the Vintners Village area, which will help with navigation for our tenants, especially during the road 
closures. 

Williams stated that he has been working with Director of Real Estate, Teresa Hancock and 
Engineer, Roger Wright to help identify the Port-owned buildings at the Prosser Airport, as he is working 
to develop new address signs at the airport.  Williams added that the Richland Airport will also receive 
new signage on Port buildings.  
 

5.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS: 
 Director of Economic Development & Governmental Affairs, Miles Thomas thanked the 
Commission for the Work from Home policy, adding that the support received has been fabulous. 
 Thomas provided a screenshare of Site Selection magazine and the ad the Port partnered with 
the City of Richland on, which highlighted DiscoverRichland.com.  Thomas explained that he hopes to 
pause on Site Selector as he is exploring additional digital tools, as most referrals received are coming in 
from the digital format.  Thomas commented that the ad was in the January 2022 issue, as well as the 
August 2021 issue. 
 Thomas provided an update on the Vintners Village detour currently affecting Port tenants.  



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 10 
 

Thomas explained that the Port learned of the road closure concurrently with everyone else, which was 
approximately 2 weeks prior to the closure on a 5-6 month project.  Thomas added that he has been in 
touch with many of the Village tenants, as well as Visit Tri-Cities, who is working to change up their 
marketing campaign with promise to help push out Port-driven updates regarding the detours and 
closure. 
 Thomas provided an update on temporary signage that is reasonable in cost and should be 
posted within a month in Vintners Village, which will help with the current confusing detour signs.  
Thomas added that he is also working to complete the Vintners Village website, which will also serve as 
a resource for the Village with a Calendar of Events that can pull from TourProsser.com.  Thomas stated 
that the website features an interactive map, similar to the map on the Tri-Cities Research District’s 
website. 
 Thomas explained that since coming back from PFML, the grant applications have consumed the 
bulk of his time and reaffirmed the other piece of the EDA grant having strong support of the Diversity, 
Equity and Inclusion (DEI) components and even offer consult services for these programs.  Thomas 
stated that the early information encourages design to consider DEI when designing the plans for the 
building, such as accessibility components, unisex bathrooms, a tenant association, an incorporation of 
diverse artwork and an overall design that speaks to a broad population with a  diversity of backgrounds. 
 Thomas thanked Executive Director for handling the governmental duties as he continues to 
focus on the grant applications and reminded the Commission that the Port grant is the only clean 
energy project in the Pacific Northwest, only application in Washington and only construction heavy 
project and stressed the importance of receiving the commitment letters from interested companies. 

6. FINANCE DIRECTOR:   
 Director of Finance/CPA, Danielle Connor announced that the finance team continues to make 
progress on the Voyager implementation phase of the IAP project and currently sits at 49%, 107, of 
leases entered.   
 Connor stated that there is a demo call schedule for the Port team with the Facility Manager 
consultant Thursday, but formal implementation of the Facility Manager module will ultimately need to 
wait until the Voyager phase is complete, and ideally a subsequent stabilization period.  Connor noted 
that the required GASB 87 piece will also be a subsequent phase; it will rely on the underlying lease data 
and will layer on the discount rate and present value calculations necessary for the financial statement 
presentation.  Connor reminded the Commission that the GASB 87 piece is a requirement that must be 
implemented by the end of 2022 and time must be allowed for configuration, testing and vetting.  
 Connor added that the timeline was initially pushed to go live on April 1, but this date is heavily 
dependent on lease entry and integration and at this time, the go live date is looking to get pushed out 
to July 1.  Connor stated that there will be a gap analysis needed prior to go live to capture any lease 
changes since initial lease entry, additional testing of billing, security deposit audit and review, general 
ledger tie-out and other cutover items.  
 Connor announced that the finance team is working on the 2021 yearend and the 2021 budget 
is closed with the team beginning to reconcile and accrue project and grant-related costs.   
 Connor noted that the 2021 financial statement package is due to the SAO by the end of May 
and the team will work again with consultant, Teresa Hanford to assist with the compilation and 
preparation of statements. 

Connor provided an update on the current financial status, adding that the January reports were 
received from the Benton County Treasurer’s office last week.   



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 11 
 

Connor stated that the current unreconciled general operating cash balance, including reserved 
cash, is $3.8M, $2.4M available operating.   

Connor informed that in January there were $511k in receipts, which were all tenant lease 
revenues. 

Connor noted that general expenditures for January were approximately $444k. 
Connor stated that January included payments to the Department of Revenue Q4 2021 LET, 

Century West Engineering, Ecomodus (for various lighting projects) and Wine Country Construction (for 
the second progress payment related to the roof replacement project). 

Connor stated that Executive Administrator, Summers Miya has done a phenomenal job with 
A/P, setting up online access, migrating vendors to electronic invoice delivery, getting the necessary 
documents and vetting new vendors, verifying proper approval on invoices.  Connor thanked Summers 
for her efforts and also complimented Contract Specialist, Sheri Collins for her work in contract 
management, ensuring all documents have been submitted prior to processing payment. 

Connor stated that current A/R sits at $453k, with approximately 33%, or $104k of tenant A/R 
aged greater than 90 days and is made up of several tenants.  Connor noted that Director of Real Estate, 
Teresa Hancock continues to send statements and letters and perform follow-up to past due tenants. 

Connor stated that as the 2021 budget is closed, she plans to bring the final 2021 budget status 
report to the Commission at the March or April meeting.  Connor added that the cadence of budget 
status report-outs will be quarterly in 2022 and will also bring the 2022 quarterly budget status report in 
April. 
 
 7.  PORT ATTORNEY: 
 Port Attorney, David Billetdeaux provided an update on the Redistricting Process, stating that he 
will share more information on the process in a possible Workshop in late February or early March, as 
he is waiting on Flo Analytics to provide their information.   Billetdeaux reminded the Commission that 
the updated redistricting needs to be formally adopted no later than November 15, 2022, but 
Billetdeaux hopes to adopt much sooner. 
 Billetdeaux announced that a proposal was received for the legal consultant RFP that was 
submitted regarding the Washington VERTical project and he is reviewing to make sure that all 
requirements have been met.  Billetdeaux added that the proposal is for $10k in services with a possible 
$10k extension.  Billetdeaux stated that the adoption of the legal consultant will allow approved 
consultant Dave McCormack to move forward under a newly created legal entity and added that the 
amount is well under the Executive Director’s Delegation of Authority.  
 Billetdeaux stated that he has developed a Port Social Media Policy, but after internal 
discussion, he felt it was important to be thorough and reach out to other Ports and also review the 
Policy with the WPPA to make sure the Port of Benton is in-line and to ensure the staff and Commission 
is safeguarded by the Policy.  Billetdeaux noted that the biggest issue was what was considered 
adequate archiving for social media.  
 Billetdeaux stated that he had some unfortunate updates on litigation to provide, adding that 
there were two hearings scheduled for today, February 16, 2022.  Billetdeaux informed the Commission 
that TCRY is attempting to re-open claims after a decade of closure with the Eastern District Federal 
Court. TCRY failed to provide adequate or proper notices or certificate of service, and Judge Shea has 
asked the parties to meet and confer. The other hearing that was to take place was in Benton County 
Superior Court. Unfortunately, TCRY filed over 700 pages of documents less than 48 hours before the 
hearing, forcing Judge Ekstrom to continue the hearing so that he had adequate time to review.  
 Billetdeaux commented on the upcoming Airport Workshop, adding that he has been working 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 12 
 

on the Airport Rules & Regulations guidelines with a goal to update the document so all users can clearly 
understand.  
 

8.  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR: 
 Executive Director, Diahann Howard provided a governmental update including an overview of 
PNWA projects such as Mission to Washington and the request for continued support on the rail and 
pavement maintenance and the lower Snake River dams.  Howard added that she continues to meet 
with Congressman Newhouse’s monthly meeting with Hanford contractors, which are hosted at the Port 
office and also continues to work with new and advanced nuclear reactor projects in the U.S., Maritime 
Blue and the Build Back Better program.   
 Howard added that the Port continues to focus on the state key bills which include the 
transportation package as there are concerns with the limited eastern Washington projects and also 
continues to follow house bill 1958 geared towards shovel-ready projects and state bill 5901 which 
focuses on manufacturing incentives.  
 Howard noted that she participated in the recent WPPA Port day and added that she continues 
to attend the Washington VERTical meeting with Commerce, and X-Energy which are now monthly, 
adding that she will continue to share the agenda with the Commission.  Howard stated that Dave 
McCormack has been awarded the Washington VERTical contract. 
 Howard added that she continues to attend the Supply Chain Caucus and Aviation meetings, 
which are monthly and also plans to continue attending TREC meetings and is planning to attend an 
Advanced Reactor Event in Idaho in April. 
 Howard stated that she also attended the Prosser Chamber Community Awards banquet. 
 Howard announced that the Accounting Clerk position has been shared and is currently posted 
on the website. 
 Howard reviewed the upcoming Workshop agenda with the Commission, adding that the 
Richland Airport budget will be included in the presentation.  Howard stated that following the March 
meeting, which will be held in Prosser, the team will travel to the Prosser Airport for a tour. 
 Howard stated that the team recently experienced a scary situation with the most important 
being the outcome that Contract Specialist, Sheri Collins was healthy and safe.  Howard reminded the 
team that in the future, team members would be trained to call for emergency services per their review 
of the situation and not the employee in distress and further tools and trainings would be incorporated, 
as the health and safety of the team takes precedence above all else. 
 
I.  EXECUTIVE SESSION:  The regular Commission Meeting was recessed at 12:14 p.m. and an Executive 
Session was convened at 12:30 p.m. to discuss ongoing litigation, personnel and real estate matters.  It 
was announced that Executive Session would take 45 minutes and if any action was required, the 
Regular Commission Meeting will reconvene and bring forward the item at that time.  At 1:15 p.m., it 
was announced that five minutes would be added to Executive Session.  At 1:20 p.m., it was announced 
that ten minutes would be added to Executive Session.  At 1:30 p.m., it was announced that 15 minutes 
would be added to Executive Session.  

K.  ADJOURNMENT:  The Commission announced that no action was required to be taken relating to any 
items discussed within Executive Session.   

With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 1:41 p.m.  
 

  



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
February 16, 2022  Page 13 
 

___________________________  
Lori Stevens 
Commission Secretary  
 
 



Special Commission Meeting 
Workshop  Meeting Minutes 
February 18, 2022  Page 1 
 

 
PORT OF BENTON  

SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING  
RICHLAND AIRPORT WORKSHOP MINUTES  

FEBRUARY 18, 2022 
  

A.  CALL TO ORDER:  The Special Commission Workshop meeting was called to order at 8:01 a.m. at the 
Port of Benton Commission Meeting Room, 3250 Port of Benton Boulevard, Richland, Washington. 
 
PRESENT:  Commissioner Lori Stevens; Commissioner Roy Keck, Commissioner Christy Rasmussen, 
Executive Director, Diahann Howard, PPM®; Director of Finance, Danielle Connor, Director of Operations 
& Facilities, Ron Branine; Director of Real Estate, Teresa Hancock; RGW Enterprises, Roger Wright; 
Executive Administrator, Summers Miya; Director of Economic Development & Governmental Affairs, 
Miles Thomas 
 
The following attendees attended via remote communications:  Port Attorney, David Billetdeaux; 
Director of Marketing, Wally Williams; Contract Specialist, Sheri Collins; City of Richland, Theresa 
Richardson; Sundance Aviation, Clif Dyer; Glen Whitcomb; Ryan Ricer; Phil Craig; Herb Brayton; Scott 
Keller; Jon Alvord; Mark Showalter; Robert Wade 
 
 The Special Commission Workshop was conducted using the CDC (Centers for 
Disease Control) recommended social distancing protocols for COVID-19 with Commissioners meeting 
in-person and remotely; public attending remotely and Port staff members participating in-person 
or remotely, and said meeting was noticed as required by RCW 42.30.070.    
  
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Commissioner Roy Keck led those present in reciting the Pledge 
of Allegiance.   
 
C.  RICHLAND AIRPORT WORKSHOP  

 1.  2022 Richland Airport Budget Review 
  
  The 2022 Richland Airport budget was presented by Director of Finance and Auditor, Danielle 
Connor. 

 2.  Design Guidelines, Rules, Regulations and Rates Overview 

 Port Attorney, David Billetdeaux provided an overview of the recently revised Airport 
Regulations and Minimum Standards guidebook, which is still in draft format. 

 3.  Rates and Fees Overview, cont. 

 Director of Real Estate, Teresa Hancock provided an overview of the rates and fees, including 
guidelines for the Richland Airport. 

 

 



Special Commission Meeting 
Workshop  Meeting Minutes 
February 18, 2022  Page 2 
 

D.  ADJOURNMENT:  With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:30 a.m. with a note that 
all materials from today’s Workshop would be posted to the website. 

 

   

___________________________  
Lori Stevens 
Commission Secretary  



Port of Benton, Benton County, Washington 

Voucher Certification and Approval 

for the Month of February 2022 

General Expenses 

Accounts Payable Warrants# 79264 79421 

Electronic Payments 

Total General Expenses 

Payroll 

Direct Deposit 

ACH 

Wire Transfers: 

IRS Payroll Tax Deposit February 4, 2022 

IRS Payroll Tax Deposit February 18, 2022 

Total Payroll 

Total General Expenses and Payroll 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the materials 

have been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described 
herein, that any advance payment is due and payable pursuant to a contract or i~ 

available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a contractual obligation, and 

that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the Port of Benton 

$ 589,956.97 

$ 26,457.84 

$ 616,414.81 

$ 100,094.30 

19,365.48 

19,280.65 

$ 138,740.43 

$ 755,155.24 

and that I am authori,Tenticate and certi?1:id claim. 

Attest, -~ ~ DirectorofFinance/PortAuditor 

We, the undersigned Commissioners of the Port of Benton, Benton County, 

Washington, do hereby certify the following vouchers/warrants have been 
certified and approved for payment, this the ___ day of _______ _, 2022. 

President 

Vice President 

Secretary 



Date Payee 

Port of Benton 
Check Register 

Document No 

Bank: BCT MAIN - KeyBank National Association Account No: 6601101 
02/02/2022 VEN00089-CITY OF RICHLAND Voided - 079274 
02/02/2022 VEN00540-GLACIER SUPPLY GROUP, LLC 079283 
02/02/2022 VEN00063-BLEYHL CO-OP 079270 
02/02/2022 VEN00119-DAY WIRELESS SYSTEMS 079276 
02/02/2022 VEN00061-BFWWCGR& TA 079269 
02/02/2022 VEN00305-POCKETINET COMMUNICATIONS, INC. 079291 
02/02/2022 VEN00510-LIFESECURE INSURANCE COMPANY 079286 
02/02/2022 VEN00310-PROSSER CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 079292 
02/02/2022 VEN00440-WA PUBLIC PORTS ASSOCIATION 079297 
02/02/2022 VEN00358-STATE AUDITOR'S OFFICE 079294 
02/02/2022 VEN00487-AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC. 079266 
02/02/2022 VEN00141-THE DRAIN SURGEON 079295 
02/02/2022 VEN00166-FERGUSON ENTERPRISES, INC. 079280 
02/02/2022 VEN00069-BRUTZMAN'S INC 079271 
02/02/2022 VEN00006-ABADAN, INC 079265 
02/02/2022 VEN00075-CASCADE NATURAL GAS CORP 079272 
02/02/2022 VEN00279-KATHRYN S. OLSON 079285 
02/02/2022 VEN00278-GERALD G. OLSON 079282 
02/02/2022 VEN00209-4IMPRINT, INC 079264 
02/02/2022 VEN00303-PACIFIC NW WATERWAYS ASSOC. 079289 
02/02/2022 VEN00159-ENVIROTECH SERVICES, INC. 079279 
02/02/2022 VEN00449-ZIPL Y FIBER 079298 
02/02/2022 VEN00395-VISIT TRI-CITIES WASHINGTON 079296 
02/02/2022 VEN00058-BENTON-FRANKLIN COUNCIL 079267 
02/02/2022 VEN00083-CENTURYLINK 079273 
02/02/2022 VEN00009-GEO WAY ACE HARDWARE 079281 
02/02/2022 VEN00380-MCCLATCHY COMPANY 079287 
02/02/2022 VEN00337-SCALES NW LLC 079293 
02/02/2022 VEN00258-MOON SECURITY SERVICES, INC 079288 
02/02/2022 VEN00288-PALMER ROOFING COMPANY 079290 
02/02/2022 VEN00201-HEAL TH CARE AUTHORITY 079284 
02/02/2022 VEN00089-CITY OF RICHLAND 079274 
02/02/2022 VEN00147-ECOMODUS, LLC 079278 
02/02/2022 VEN00100-COFFEY REFRIGERATION 079275 
02/02/2022 VEN00059-BENTON-FRANKLIN HEAL TH DEPT 079268 
02/02/2022 VEN00136-DIGITAL IMAGE TRI-CITIES, INC. 079277 
02/03/2022 VEN00089-CITY OF RICHLAND 079299 
02/04/2022 VEN00215-INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 02042022 
02/07/2022 VEN00171-EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPT Q4PFML 
02/08/2022 VEN00425-WASHINGTON STATE SUPPORT REGISTRY 01-2022 
02/08/2022 VEN00321-CI INFORMATION MANAGEMENT 079305 
02/08/2022 VEN00228-KELLER ROHRBACK LLP 079317 
02/08/2022 VEN00419-GRAINGER 079312 
02/08/2022 VEN00225-JUB ENGINEERS, INC 079316 
02/08/2022 VEN00301-PITNEY BOWES, INC 079320 
02/08/2022 VEN00359-STEEBER'S LOCK SERVICE, LLC 079321 
02/08/2022 VEN00258-MOON SECURITY SERVICES, INC 079319 
02/08/2022 VEN00404-UNITED WAY OF BENTON/FRANKLIN COUNTY 079326 
02/08/2022 VEN00376-TRI-CITY REGIONAL CHAMBER 079324 
02/08/2022 VEN00487-AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC. 079300 
02/08/2022 VEN00164-FASTENAL COMPANY 079310 
02/08/2022 VEN00202-HERC RENTALS INC. 079313 
02/08/2022 VEN00151-ELECTRICAL UNLIMITED, INC 079309 
02/08/2022 VEN00414-VERIZON 079328 
02/08/2022 VEN00543-DESERT VALLEY POWERSPORTS, LLC 079308 
02/08/2022 VEN00253-MINUTEMAN PRESS OF KENNEWICK 079318 
02/08/2022 VEN00024-AMERIGAS PROPANE LP 079301 
02/08/2022 VEN00492-INLAND ASPHALT COMPANY 079314 
02/08/2022 VEN00077-COLUMBIA BASIN IT 079307 
02/08/2022 VEN00044-BENTON PUD 079303 
02/08/2022 VEN00298-TRI-CITY COMPUTER CONSUL TING LLC 079323 
02/08/2022 VEN00405-UPS 079327 
02/08/2022 VEN00069-BRUTZMAN'S INC 079304 
02/08/2022 VEN00071-CITY OF PROSSER 079306 
02/08/2022 VEN00544-BENTON CITY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 079302 
02/08/2022 VEN00449-ZIPL Y FIBER 079329 
02/08/2022 VEN00009-GEO WAY ACE HARDWARE 079311 
02/08/2022 VEN00346-THE SHERWIN-WILLIAMS CO. 079322 
02/08/2022 VEN00222-JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL 079315 
02/08/2022 VEN00401-TWIN CITY METALS, INC 079325 

Created on: 03/01/2022, 8:06 AM PST 

Amount Cleared 

(2,986.25) In Transit 
8,953.49 In Transit 

543.02 In Transit 
369.06 In Transit 
250.00 In Transit 
240.00 In Transit 
993.42 In Transit 
80.00 In Transit 

10,174.00 In Transit 
9,676.15 In Transit 

78.39 In Transit 
1,273.34 In Transit 

96.17 In Transit 
496.10 In Transit 
273.14 In Transit 

19,693.40 In Transit 
637.42 In Transit 
549.99 In Transit 
763.90 In Transit 

8,020.00 In Transit 
6,516.00 In Transit 

535.02 In Transit 
3,000.00 In Transit 

10,457.00 In Transit 
102.74 In Transit 
226.58 In Transit 

1,059.47 In Transit 
792.78 In Transit 
615.61 In Transit 

4,669.80 In Transit 
27,259.91 In Transit 
2,986.25 In Transit 
4,950.76 In Transit 

244.36 In Transit 
75.00 In Transit 

226.98 In Transit 
535.53 In Transit 

19,365.48 In Transit 
997.49 In Transit 
68.00 In Transit 

178.10 In Transit 
3,557.00 In Transit 

226.33 In Transit 
2,816.00 In Transit 

210.09 In Transit 
238.92 In Transit 

1,072.68 In Transit 
120.00 In Transit 
10.00 In Transit 
38.49 In Transit 
46.38 In Transit 

3,133.11 In Transit 
690.38 In Transit 

1,603.93 In Transit 
106.76 In Transit 
196.41 In Transit 

2,652.29 In Transit 
130,449.06 In Transit 

850.44 In Transit 
4,391 .62 In Transit 

260.38 In Transit 
23.66 In Transit 
41.90 In Transit 

6,078.38 In Transit 
330.00 In Transit 
73.74 In Transit 
67.34 In Transit 

100.99 In Transit 
495.79 In Transit 

33.67 In Transit 

Page 1 



Port of Benton 
Check Register 

Date Payee Document No Amount Cleared 

02/14/2022 10015-Billetdeaux, David 079362 174.99 In Transit 
02/14/2022 10007-Keck, Roy 079363 287.39 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00464-ROCKABILL Y ROASTING CO. 079349 95.00 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00473-XIOLOGIX, LLC 079360 417.02 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00222-JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL 079343 136.69 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00487-AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC. 079330 156.36 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00298-TRI-CITY COMPUTER CONSUL TING LLC 079355 1,954.80 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00229-KELLEY'S TELE-COMMUNICATION, INC. 079344 192.07 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00402-UNDERGROUND CREATIVE, LLC 079357 200.00 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00334-SANITARY DISPOSAL, INC. 079350 230.74 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00398-TRI-CITY SIGN & BARRICADE 079356 352.08 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00541-TIFFANY SANGER 079353 1,537.50 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00009-GEO WAY ACE HARDWARE 079341 50.31 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00405-UPS 079358 49.19 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00202-HERC RENTALS INC. 079342 1,216.32 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00240-UFE FLIGHT NETWORK FOUNDATION 079345 59.00 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00261-MP CONSTRUCTION, INC. 079347 2,684.59 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00044-BENTON PUD 079331 546.32 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00053-BENTON RURAL ELEC ASSOCIATION 079332 858.44 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00166-FERGUSON ENTERPRISES, INC. 079340 261 .63 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00527-PAINTMASTER SERVICES 079348 70,794.80 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00052-CITY OF BENTON CITY 079336 106.83 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00089-CITY OF RICHLAND 079337 2,750.00 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00077-COLUMBIA BASIN IT 079338 210.00 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00290-CI-PW, LLC (Paradise Bottled Water) 079335 41 .73 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00075-CASCADE NATURAL GAS CORP 079334 1,870.43 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00449-ZIPL Y FIBER 079361 805.15 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00377-TRI-CITY AREA JOURNAL OF BUSINESS 079354 880.00 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00069-BRUTZMAN'S INC 079333 133.55 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00346-THE SHERWIN-WILLIAMS CO. 079352 48.06 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00545-LOURDES OCCUPATIONAL HEAL TH CLINIC 079346 45.00 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00410-USDA APHIS 079359 5,286.99 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00372-SUNNYSIDE VALLEY IRRIGATION DISTRICT 079351 5,351.14 In Transit 
02/14/2022 VEN00105-CONNELL OIL, INC 079339 1,058.52 In Transit 
02/15/2022 VEN00268-NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTION NW01152022 2,704.66 In Transit 
02/18/2022 VEN00215-INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 02182022 19,280.65 In Transit 
02/18/2022 VEN00122-DEPT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS DCP1152022 4,151.41 lnTransit 
02/21/2022 VEN00504-SWAGGART BROTHERS, INC. 079393 11,976.43 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00540-GLACIER SUPPLY GROUP, LLC 079382 238.40 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00024-AMERIGAS PROPANE LP 079368 977.56 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00358-STATE AUDITOR'S OFFICE 079390 15,878.72 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00301-PITNEY BOWES, INC 079389 276.90 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00548-PARKING BOXX CORP. 079387 18,711 .78 lnTransit 
02/21/2022 VEN00425-WASHINGTON STATE SUPPORT REGISTRY 079398 68.00 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00006-ABADAN, INC 079364 336.40 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00063-BLEYHL CO-OP 079372 25.97 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00164-FASTENAL COMPANY 079380 88.74 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00487-AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC. 079367 397.66 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00365-STRATTON SURVEYING & MAPPING 079392 600.00 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00412-VALLEY PUBLISHING COMPANY 079396 84.41 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00510-LIFESECURE INSURANCE COMPANY 079385 993.42 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00044-BENTON PUD 079371 102.97 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00008-ABM JANITORIAL SERVICES 079365 3,261.89 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00234-CITY OF RICHLAND LANDFILL 079376 91.88 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00321-CI INFORMATION MANAGEMENT 079374 43.70 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00297-PERSONAL TOUCH CLEANING, INC. 079388 8,628.29 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00162-FARMERS EXCHANGE 079379 236.53 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00009-GEO WAY ACE HARDWARE 079381 90.68 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00469-CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING CORP 079373 29,589.20 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00359-STEEBER'S LOCK SERVICE, LLC 079391 665.72 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00258-MOON SECURITY SERVICES, INC 079386 244.36 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00385-THE HOME DEPOT CRC/GECF 079394 2,438.28 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00038-BANNER BANK - Credit Card 079370 7,225.76 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00424- WASHINGTON AIRPORT MGMT. ASSOC 079397 375.00 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00449-ZIPL Y FIBER 079399 315.06 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00089-CITY OF RICHLAND 079375 24,896.94 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00201-HEAL TH CARE AUTHORITY 079384 27,531.91 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00012-AFLAC 079366 603.11 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00518-BAKER TILLY US, LLP 079369 750.00 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00546-GRANDVIEW LUMBER, INC. 079383 36.90 In Transit 
02/21/2022 VEN00401-TWIN CITY METALS, INC 079395 207.53 In Transit 

Created on: 03/01/2022, 8:06 AM PST Page2 



Port of Benton 
Check Register 

Date Payee 

02/21/2022 VEN00139-DOCUSIGN, INC. 
02/21/2022 VEN00147-ECOMODUS, LLC 
02/22/2022 VEN00122-DEPT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 
02/28/2022 VEN00239-STATE OF WA DEPT OF REVENUE 
02/28/2022 10025-Rasmussen, Christy 
02/28/2022 VEN00491-LOWE'S CREDIT/SYNCHRONY FINANCIAL 
02/28/2022 VEN00114-CRYSTAL SPRINGS 
02/28/2022 VEN00119-DAY WIRELESS SYSTEMS 
02/28/2022 VEN00305-POCKETINET COMMUNICATIONS, INC. 
02/28/2022 VEN00121-DEAN'S AUTOMOTIVE REPAIR 
02/28/2022 VEN00376-TRI-CITY REGIONAL CHAMBER 
02/28/2022 VEN00261-MP CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
02/28/2022 VEN00487-AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC. 
02/28/2022 VEN00151-ELECTRICAL UNLIMITED, INC 
02/28/2022 VEN00363-STONEWAY ELECTRIC SUPPLY INC 
02/28/2022 VEN00394-TREASURE VALLEY COFFEE 
02/28/2022 VEN00278-GERALD G. OLSON 
02/28/2022 VEN00279-KATHRYN S. OLSON 
02/28/2022 VEN00196-HARBOR FREIGHT TOOLS, INC. 
02/28/2022 VEN00444-DEPT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES 
02/28/2022 VEN00380-MCCLATCHY COMPANY 
02/28/2022 VEN00141-THE DRAIN SURGEON 
02/28/2022 VEN00009-GEO WAY ACE HARDWARE 
02/28/2022 VEN00083-CENTURYLINK 
02/28/2022 VEN00105-CONNELL OIL, INC 
02/28/2022 VEN00131-DESERTGREEN LAWN & TREE CARE 

Total for BCT MAIN 

Created on: 03/01/2022, 8:06 AM PST 

Document No 

0193n 
079378 
PERS11522 
JAN2022 
079421 
079413 
079403 
079404 
079416 
079405 
079420 
079415 
079400 
079408 
079417 
079419 
079410 
079412 
079411 
079406 
079414 
079418 
079409 
079401 
079402 
079407 

Amount Cleared 

2,966.40 In Transit 
7,643.50 In Transit 

10,978.29 In Transit 
7,557.99 In Transit 

119.01 In Transit 
329.11 In Transit 
490.13 In Transit 
369.06 In Transit 
240.00 In Transit 

78.12 In Transit 
250.00 In Transit 

7,333.76 In Transit 
113.50 In Transit 
971.21 In Transit 
811.02 In Transit 
54.10 In Transit 

549.92 In Transit 
590.35 In Transit 
134.59 In Transit 
114.10 In Transit 
996.97 In Transit 

1,058.85 In Transit 
154.15 In Transit 
105.08 In Transit 

2,293.89 In Transit 
18,835.04 In Transit 

655,060.94 

Page3 



Project Fund 

Accounts Payable Warrants# 

Electronic Payments 

Port of Benton, Benton County, Washington 

Voucher Certification and Approval 

for the Month of February 2022 

900009 900009 

Total Project Fund Expenses 

Total Project Fund Expenses 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the materials 

have been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described 

herein, that any advance payment is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is 

available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a contractual obligation, and 

that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the Port of Benton 

$ 18,333.75 

$ 

$ 18,333.75 

$ 18,333.75 

and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

Attest: ~ ~{;_ ~ Director of Finance/Port Auditor 

We, the undersigned Commissioners of the Port of Benton, Benton County, 

Washington, do hereby certify the following vouchers/warrants have been 

certified and approved for payment, this the ___ day of-------~ 2022. 

President 

Vice President 

Secretary 



Port of Benton 
Check Register 

Date Payee Document No 

Bank: BCT PROJECT - KeyBank National Associa- Account No: 6601401 
tlon 

02/28/2022 VEN00519-ARCHITECTS WEST, INC. 900009 
Total for BCT PROJECT 

Created on: 03/01/2022, 8:06 AM PST 

Amount Cleared 

18,333.75 In Transit 
18,333.75 

Page 1 



 
RESOLUTION 22-12 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PORT OF BENTON AMENDING 
RESOLUTION 22-09 

 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Port of Benton commission previously authorized the Port to submit an 
application to the U.S. Economic Development Administration under Resolution No. 22-
09; and  
 
WHEREAS, tenants and partners of the proposed Advanced Energy Innovation and 
Commercialization Center have committed to provide cash and in-kind match towards 
additional equipment necessary for the operation of the facility that requires the grant 
authorization amount to be revised; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PORT OF BENTON AS FOLLOWS: 
 
The following items from Resolution 22-09 shall be amended as follows:  
 

A. Provision 1: 
 
Diahann Howard, Executive Director of the Port of Benton or her designee, is 
authorized to submit an application to the U.S. Economic Development 
Administration for up to a $12,000,000 grant for the construction of the 
Advanced Energy Innovation and Commercialization Center. 
 
The wording in this provision shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 
Diahann Howard, Executive Director of the Port of Benton or her designee, is 
authorized to submit an application to the U.S. Economic Development 
Administration for up to a $8,000,000 grant for the construction of the Advanced 
Energy Innovation and Commercialization Center. 
 

B. Provision 2: 
 
The Port of Benton will contribute a $500,000 cash match to the total project, 
and funding of $2,500,000 if awarded from the Community Economic 
Revitalization Board. 
 
The wording in this provision shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 
The Port of Benton will contribute a $500,000 cash match to the total project, 
and funding of $1,500,000 from Benton County .09 Rural County Capital Fund set 
aside for the Port of Benton. If further companies/partners are secured in the 



near future, the Port may seek up to $2,500,000 from the Community Economic 
Revitalization Board. 
 

All other provisions, the terms, and conditions of Resolution 22-09 shall remain in full 
force and effect. 
 
THIS RESOLUTION OF THE PORT OF BENTON ADOPTED by the Commission at its regular 
meeting held this ninth day of March, 2022. 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Christy L. Rasmussen, President 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Roy D. Keck, Vice President 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Lori Stevens, Secretary 
 



PORT OF BENTON
PROJECTS AND GRANTS STATUS

 
  

March 2022

Project Description Grants Pursued/Received Comments
1 Richland Airport Master Plan Master plan update of Airport FAA $400,000                              

POB $40,000                             
Still waiting on FAA's review of 
the final Draft of the Airport 
Master Plan.  Likely won't receive 
approval until late March 2022.

2 Richland Innovation Center     
Rural County Capital Funds

Infrastructure improvements 
across already developed lots 
and the widening of Fermi 
Avenue

Benton County                       
RCCF $1,100,000                          

Fermi Avenue is complete.  
Sidewalk bid is due March 
16th.

3 Richland Airport - Airfield 
Signage and Lights (PH1)

Replace Airfield Signs, Replace 
runway lights on RW 8/26 & 1/19 
MIRL - DESIGN ONLY

FAA - $250,000                                      
No Match Required

Design is complete and has been 
submitted to FAA.

4 Richland Airport - Airfield 
Signage and Lights (PH1)

Replace Airfield Signs, Replace 
runway lights on RW 8/26 & 1/19 
MIRL - CONSTRUCTION

FAA - $3,200,000                                     
No Match Required

Project is out for bid.  Bids are 
due March 22nd and will 
require a special Commission 
meeting for award.

5 Railroad Improvements - FRIB 
low interest loan

Provide low interest loan funding 
of railroad crossings at Van 
Giesen and Swift/Cemetery

FRIB - $250,000 1% loan Pending approval of State 2022 
Budget by legislature.

6 Innovation Cluster Accelerator 
Program Application

Washington Dept of Commerce, 
next evolution of POB, IPZ.  Goal 
to support creation of clean 
energy industry lead alliance. 

State-$400,000 Dave McCormack under contract 
for $100,000.  Legal RFP 
completed and contract with Neal 
Taylor Gravis in place. 
Communications RFP out for 
solicitation.



PORT OF BENTON
PROJECTS AND GRANTS STATUS

 
  

March 2022

 Project Description Grants Pursued/Received Comments
7 Infrastructure Investment and 

Jobs Act - Grant Funds
Direct grants for the improvement 
of public use airports.  Specific 
projects have not yet been 
identified.

Richland Airport $1,480,000      
Prosser Airport $ 790,000

Still waiting on formal approval 
and information on use of funds.  

8 Community Aviation 
Revitalization Board (CARB)

WSDOT funding to allow the Port 
of Benton to acquire existing 
hangars that are near the end of 
their long term leases and are 
located within the area in the 
Master Plan shown for removal.

WSDOT $750,000 CARB                 
Low interest 20 year loan with 
initial payment is due in 2026.  
Interest rate is 2% and hangar 
revenues cover debt service. 
Project at Richland Airport

Contracts have been signed and 
beginning negotiations with initial 
two hangar owners.

9 EDA Build Back Better Application led by Maritime Blue 
and Washington Clean Tech 
Alliance:   POB $8M for ICC 
facility focused on advanced 
energy and hydrogen.

FED - $8M  20% match       
CERB  - $2,500,000 - potential                          
POB - $500,000       COUNTY - 
$1.5M

Awarded Phase 1, now to draft 
phase 2 for Ports project due 
March 5th to Maritime Blue for 
submittal.  Possibly use 
additional 0.09 money for 
match. (Item No. 4, RES 22-12)

10 National Highway Freight 
Program (WSDOT portion)

SR 240 rail signal and crossing 
reconstruction.  City of Richland 
and Port of Benton are jointly 
submitting on this project.  City 
will be installing a bike/ped path 
on north side of crossing.  
WSDOT is planning on widening 
SR 240 from bypass highway to 
Hagen Rd. 

WSDOT $865,000                     
POB $135,000

Grant application due March 
11th.  Award would be late 2022 
with construction in 2023.

 



 

 

Port of Benton 
Richland/Prosser Airport 
Ground Lease Agreement 

 
 
The parties hereto are the PORT OF BENTON, a municipal corporation of the State of 
Washington, (hereinafter "Port"), and _________________, LLC, a Washington limited liability 
company, (hereinafter "Lessee"). 
 
FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, there parties 
agree as follows: 
 

1. LEASE AND DESCRIPTION. Upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, Port 
does hereby lease to Lessee and the Lessee does hereby lease from Port those certain premises 
situated in the Port of Benton, County of Benton, State of Washington, being a part of the 
Richland/Prosser Airport, described as follows: 
 
See legal description and map attached hereto as Exhibit "A" which is incorporated herein by 
reference, hereinafter called "premises." 
 

2. BUSINESS PURPOSE. The premises are to be used for aircraft hangars and aircraft 
storage only; provided that no use may be made of the premises which can or does interfere 
with use of the airport by aircraft by reasons of electrical, electronic, or smoke emanations, lighting 
conditions, height of any structure or appurtenance, or any use which may attract birds. 
Unauthorized development of residential living quarters, whether by Lessee or any subtenant, 
is prohibited and may be declared an event of default under the lease. Port may declare any 
noncomplying subleases null and void under this provision. 
 

3. TERM. The term of this lease shall be for thirty (30) years, commencing   __________, 
2022 ("Commencement Date"), and ending at midnight on December 31, 20___.  

 
3.1 Upon the expiration of the initial term of the lease, the Lessee shall have the 

option to extend this Lease for two (2) additional terms of ten (10) years each at the end of 
the initial term prior to the final renewal term. 

 
3.2 The option to extend this Lease shall be deemed to have been exercised 

unless the Lessee shall give the Port written notice of its intent not to exercise an option at 
least ninety (90) days prior to termination of the initial term or any renewal term except the 
final renewal term.   

 
3.3 The Lessee may only exercise the right to extend the term of this Lease if the 

Lessee is not in material default in the performance of the terms of this Lease at the time the 
Lessee exercises the option or at the time an option is deemed to be exercised under Section 
3.2. 

 
3.4 The Lessee may only exercise the right to extend the term of this Lease if the 

Lessee is in compliance with the performance of the terms of this Lease as specified in 
Section 8, “Condition Assessment” at the time the Lessee exercises the option or at the time 
an option is deemed to be exercised under Section 3.2. 

 
3.5 In the event the Lessee elects not to exercise the Lease extensions as 

provided in this Section, then this Lease shall terminate and the Lessee shall have no further 



rights under the terms of the Lease. 

4. RENTAL. The annual rental for the period from January 1, 2022 through Dec. 31, 20___, 
shall be paid in advance on the first day of each rental period, commencing January 1, 2022, 
and shall be mailed or hand delivered to the Port at 3250 Port of Benton Blvd., Richland, WA 
99354, and shall be in the following amounts:  

First Rental Period: (January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022) the annual sum of $_______ 
($0.__ per square foot per year, prorated), plus leasehold excise tax of $________. 

Second Rental Period: (January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023) the annual sum of 
$______ ($__ per square foot per year, prorated), plus leasehold excise tax of $_________. 

Third Rental Period: (January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024) the annual sum of $__________ 
($__ per square foot per year, prorated), plus leasehold excise tax of $__________ 

Future Rental Periods: An annual sum to be determined by Port based upon a reappraisal of 
land at the Richland/Prosser Airport (including the lease premises) by an MAI appraiser 
employed by Port for that purpose. Said sum shall be computed by the following formula: 

R=LRRX N 
Where: R= annual rental sum; 
LRR = Land Rental Rate, the rate per acre fixed by the most current 
appraisal of land at Port of Benton, Richland/Prosser Airport. Appraisal to 
be conducted by an MAI appraiser employed by Port for valuation of land 
every 5 years; 
N= number of acres in parcel leased by Lessee. 

4.1 FUTURE REAPPRAISALS. Port anticipates having a professional reappraisal of 
the airport land conducted every five years. The reappraisal shall provide the basis for 
computation of the rents for the five-year period thereafter, using the formula as set forth above. 

4.2 READJUSTMENT AND ARBITRATION 

4.2.1 The rental sums for the remaining years of the term of this lease shall be 
readjusted at the commencement of each five-year term thereof, if written request for 
readjustment is given by either party to the other at least 30 days prior to the commencement of 
the five-year period concerning which readjustment is requested. If the parties cannot agree upon 
the Land Rental Rate for the five-year period, the Land Rental Rate for the subsequent five-year 
Rental Period shall be established by binding arbitration as provided by RCW 14.08.120 (5), as 
now enacted or subsequently amended. The only issue subject to arbitration is the Land Rental 
Rate(LRR) that Port has established. 

4.2.2 Within fifteen (15) days after Lessee's written objection to the proposed 
adjusted rent, Lessee and Port will each select one arbitrator. The two selected arbitrators will 
select a third arbitrator. If the two arbitrators have not selected a third arbitrator within thirty (30) 
days after the last selection of the two, either Lessee or Port will apply to the presiding judge of the 
Superior Court of Benton County for the appointment of a third arbitrator. Each arbitrator will hold 
the MAI designation (or equivalent) with at least five (5) years commercial, industrial, and /or 
business park appraisal experience and will be a Washington State Certified Appraiser. The three 
arbitrators will determine the Land Rental Rate (LRR) thereon, and no other matter. The decision 
of a majority of the arbitrators will bind both Lessee and Port. At the conclusion of the arbitration, 
the arbitrators will submit a written report to Lessee and Port containing their decision. The costs 



 

 

of the arbitration will be divided equally between Lessee and Port. Each party shall otherwise be 
responsible for their own legal, consulting, and other costs. 

 
4.2.3 In the event resolution of the rental adjustment is not completed prior to the 

commencement of the Rental Period being considered, Lessee shall, pending resolution of such 
rental adjustment, continue to pay Port the Rent then in effect and Port, at its option, may elect to 
require that interest in the amount of twelve percent (12%) per annum be payable on any sum due 
as a result of a retroactive rental increase determined under the terms of this lease. 

 
4.3 LEASEHOLD EXCISE TAX/PERSONAL PROPERTY TAX. In addition to the rent, 

the lessee shall pay to Port at the same time the rent is paid such leasehold excise tax or other 
taxes as shall have been or may be lawfully levied by the State of Washington or Benton County, 
which leasehold excise tax or other tax may rise or fall as rentals increase or decrease, or as 
applicable laws may change. 

 
4.4 LEASEHOLD EXCISE TAX PROVISIONS. In the event that the Lessee does not 

own the improvements as would be stated in Section 1 of the General Lease Terms and 
Conditions of this lease, then for the purpose of compliance with the State of Washington 
leasehold excise tax law, the Lessee shall within five days after demand of Port furnish to Port all 
information as to the actual cost of any improvements placed on the premises by the Lessee (and 
at least annually during the term of the Lease to furnish all information as to the actual cost of any 
improvements placed on the premises following construction of the building placed thereon), and if 
demanded, such information shall be in the form of a sworn affidavit. It is understood that said 
information may be furnished to the Washington State Department of Revenue for the purpose of 
auditing and regulating the payment or collection of such tax, and the tax may be based upon the 
information furnished. If Port shall in the future determine that it must adopt some other or different 
method of securing information to enable it to comply with said law, the Lessee agrees to 
cooperate fully and promptly in such manner and to furnish all information demanded of it, 
including but not limited to depreciation schedules used for federal income tax purposes. 

 
4.5 LATE CHARGES. There shall be assessed and the Lessee shall pay upon any 

installment of rent or portion thereof not paid within 10 days after such rent installment is due and 
payable, a late charge penalty for each month or fraction thereof the rent or portion thereof is not 
paid equal to five percent (5%) of the amount of such rent or portion thereof (plus accrued late 
charge penalties, if any) due and payable. The amount of such late charge penalty shall be added 
to the amount due each month, and total thereof shall be subject to a late charge for each 
succeeding month or fraction thereof in the amount of five percent (5%) of the total. 
 

5. GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS/INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE. Attached 
hereto as Exhibit "B" and incorporated herein by this reference is that document entitled "Port of 
Benton General Terms and Conditions" (hereinafter "the General Terms and Conditions"). 
Compliance with said document is a material element of Lessee's performance under and 
obligations under this Lease. Minimum Standards for Commercial Aeronautical Activity shall also 
apply for those leases providing these services. Also incorporated by reference herein as though 
fully set forth herein are the terms and provisions of that certain Development Agreement between 
the parties dated ____________, 202___ (the Development Agreement), a copy of which is 
attached as Exhibit "C" hereto. 

 
6. SECURITY.   The Lessee shall provide the Lessor with a rent security deposit or bond, as 

deemed acceptable to the port, in the amount of $_________ which is equal to the rent and 
Leasehold Tax to be paid during the initial year of the Lease. A deposit of funds with the Port or an 
assignment of a savings account in the amount specified above which cannot be released without 
the approval of the Port will be acceptable in lieu of a rent bond. In the event the rent is adjustable 



 

 

as provided in Section 4, then the security bond or security deposit shall be adjusted so the 
amount of the security equals the rent and leasehold excise tax due during the year.    

 
7. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR.  User has viewed the Premises, and accepts them in their 

present “AS-IS” condition, with all faults and defects. The Port makes no representations about the 
condition or fitness for purpose of the Premises. The Port makes no representation about the 
condition of the Premises.  Hazardous Substances may exist in, on, under or above the 
Premises. User should, but is not required to, conduct environmental assessments or 
investigations of the Premises prior to or during this Lease to determine the existence, 
scope and location of any Hazardous Substances.  If there are any Hazardous Substances 
in, on, under or above the Premises as of the Commencement Date, User shall exercise the 
utmost care with respect to the Hazardous Substances, the foreseeable acts or omissions 
of third parties affecting the Hazardous Substances, and the foreseeable consequences of 
those acts or omissions. 

 
8. ALTERATIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS.  User shall make no alterations or improvements 

to the Premises without first having obtained the written consent of the Director of Airports or 
designee. Upon termination, the Port has the option to require User to remove such improvements 
at User’s sole expense. If not removed, improvements shall become the property of the Port. 

 
9. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. User shall comply with all state, federal and local laws and 

regulations and the rules of the Port, as amended from time to time. User shall indemnify, defend, 
and hold the Port harmless from all expense directly or indirectly related to the noncompliance by 
User of governing law, regulations and/or rules of the Port. 

 
User expressly represents that all of User’s operations on the Premises shall be in strict 

compliance with governing environmental, land use, regulations and ordinances, and that User 
specifically shall not use, store, keep or maintain in, on or about the Premises any hazardous 
substances and/or wastes, toxic materials, or solid wastes. . 

 
10. SITE SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS.  User shall limit authorized activities to User, its 

officials, employees, and volunteers. All participants and visitors shall remain clear of active 
runways and taxiways. No participant shall cross any active runway. 

 
11. SAFETY RULES, TIME OF USE.  User shall be solely responsible for the safety and 

security of all participants and visitors. The Port of Benton and assumes no responsibility for the 
safety of participants or visitors 

 
12. INDEMNIFICATION, LIABILITY INSURANCE.  The Port and its employees/agents shall 

not be liable for any injury to any persons or for damage to any property, including, but not limited 
to, damage by rain, flood or bursting water pipes, abnormal temperature, mechanical or electrical 
failure, sewage/septic system failure, fire, smoke, water from sprinklers, earthquake, 
environmental damage, aircraft accident, or any infestation, or otherwise, regardless of how such 
injury or damage may be caused, as a result of the condition which in any way is related to the 
use of the Premises or the operations of the User in, on or about the Premises by User, its 
employees, agents, volunteers and invitees. User agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 
the Port from and against all liability, claims, to include liability, claims and actions brought by 
User, its employees, agents, volunteers and invitees based upon or arising out of injuries, death, 
damages to person or property, caused by or resulting from the negligence of the User, the User’s 
employees, agents, volunteers and invitees while engaging in or arising from the User’s use of the 
airport pursuant to the terms of this Use Agreement. In addition, User shall maintain general 
liability insurance coverage in a minimum amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence, and $2,000.000 
aggregate. The Port shall be named as an additional insured, and the policy will contain a 



 

 

restriction that the policy cannot be canceled without first having given the Port thirty (30) days 
advance written notice of an intended cancellation. User shall furnish certificates of such 
insurance to the Port prior to occupying the Premises. 

 
11.1 PROOF OF COMPLIANCE.  The Lessee shall name the Port as an additional 

insured on the public liability insurance policy required to be maintained by the terms of this 
Lease.  Port may require Lessee to deliver to Port in the manner required for notices a copy or 
certificate of all insurance policies required by this Lease.  Lessee shall include a provision in each 
of its insurance policies requiring the insurance carrier to give Port at least thirty (30) days prior 
written notice before such policy terminates.  Lessee shall not substantially modify any of the 
insurance policies required by this Lease without giving at least thirty (30) days prior written notice 
to Port.  Policy limits shall be no less than $2,000,000 aggregate / each occurrence. 
 

13. INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE WAIVER.  FOR PURPOSES OF THE FOREGOING 
INDEMNIFICATION PROVISION ONLY, AND ONLY TO THE EXTENT OF CLAIMS AGAINST 
LESSEE BY LESSOR UNDER SUCH INDEMNIFICATION PROVISION, LESSEE 
SPECIFICALLY WAIVES ANY IMMUNITY IT MAY BE GRANTED UNDER THE WASHINGTON 
STATE INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE ACT, TITLE 51 RCW. THE INDEMNIFICATION 
OBLIGATION UNDER THIS LEASE SHALL NOT BE LIMITED IN ANY WAY BY ANY 
LIMITATION ON THE AMOUNT OR TYPE OF DAMAGES, COMPENSATION OR BENEFITS 
PAYABLE TO OR FOR ANY THIRD PARTY UNDER WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACTS, 
DISABILITY BENEFIT ACTS, OR OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT ACTS. 
 
The foregoing provision was specifically negotiated and agreed upon by the parties hereto. 
 

Port Initials ________     Tenant Initials __________ 
 

14. ASSIGNMENT OR SUBLEASE. Lessee shall not assign, transfer or sublet the Premises 
without the express written consent of the Port of Benton, which will not be unreasonably withheld 
should the proposed Lessee/Sub-Lessee comply with the described “Business Use” above. 

 
15. LEASEHOLD MORTGAGES.  Lessee shall have the right during the term of this Lease to 

mortgage the Lessee's interest in this Lease, without the prior consent of the Port, and to assign 
the Lessee's interest in this Lease as collateral security for such leasehold mortgage.  All rights 
acquired by the holder of the leasehold mortgage shall be subject to each and every term, 
covenant and condition of this Lease and to all rights and interests of the Port.  None of the terms, 
covenants or conditions of the Lease shall be waived by the Port by reason of the right given to 
the Lessee to assign its interest in this Lease for security purposes. 

 
15.1 The Leasehold Mortgage shall contain provisions providing that no purchaser or 

transferee of the Lease at any foreclosure sale or other transfer authorized by law or by reason of 
a default under the mortgage where no foreclosure sale is required shall further assign or transfer 
any right, title or interest in or to this Lease or the leasehold estate covered by the Leasehold 
Mortgage unless the Port has approved the assignee or transferee in writing. 

 
15.2 In the event the Lessee assigns this Lease for security purposes as provided in this 

Section 15, after receipt of a written notice from the Lessee giving the name and address of the 
leasehold mortgagee, the Port agrees that whenever the Port sends a notice to the Lessee under 
the terms of this Lease, the Port will contemporaneously send a copy of the notice to the 
leasehold mortgagee.  

 
15.3 The Port further agrees that it will not accept a voluntary cancellation or surrender 

of the Lease by the Lessee without prior written consent of the leasehold mortgagee and the Port 



 

 

will not enter into any amendments of the lease which modifies any material provision of the lease 
without prior written approval of the leasehold mortgagee. No merger shall result from the 
acquisition by or the devolution upon any one entity of the fee and leasehold estates in the 
property. 

 
15.4 In the event of a notice of default from the Port to the Lessee, the leasehold 

mortgagee may cure any default within the time provided for in the lease after the leasehold 
mortgagee's receipt of the notice of default.  The Port agrees to accept a tender of cure of default 
from the leasehold mortgagee as if the cure were tendered by the Lessee.  Provided, however, 
that if it takes the leasehold mortgagee more than thirty (30) days to cure a default (other than the 
payment of any money due under the lease) because the leasehold mortgagee is not in 
possession of the property, the lease shall not be in default if the leasehold mortgagee promptly 
undertakes to obtain possession of the property and diligently pursues its right to possession.  No 
tender of cure of a default by the leasehold mortgagee shall require the leasehold mortgagee to 
cure any future defaults by the Lessee or require the leasehold mortgagee to perform any other 
term or condition of this Lease. 

 
15.5 In the event of a default by the Lessee which has not been cured by the Lessee or 

by the leasehold mortgagee and which would permit the Port to forfeit or otherwise terminate this 
Lease or in the event the leasehold mortgagee forecloses upon its leasehold mortgage and 
becomes the holder of the Lessee's interest in this Lease, the Port agrees to accept the leasehold 
mortgagee as the Lessee under this Lease, provided the leasehold mortgagee performs all of the 
obligations and covenants of the Lessee contained in this Lease which are capable of being 
performed by the leasehold mortgagee.   

 
15.6 In the event of a default which is personal to the Lessee (such as a bankruptcy) 

and which cannot be cured by the leasehold mortgagee and the Lessee's interest under this 
Lease has been terminated or canceled, then at the written request of the leasehold mortgagee, 
the Port agrees to enter into a new lease with the leasehold mortgagee under the same terms and 
conditions as this Lease and for any unexpired term of the lease.  The Port's execution and 
delivery of the lease shall be without any representation or warranty of any kind, including any 
representations or warranties regarding title to the Property, the improvements or the priority of 
such new lease.   

 
15.6.1 The Port shall be obligated to enter into a new lease with the leasehold 

mortgagee only if the leasehold mortgagee has remedied and cured all monetary defaults of the 
Lessee under this Lease and has remedied and cured or has commenced and is diligently 
completing the cure of all non-monetary defaults susceptible to cure by any party other than the 
original Lessee.  The leasehold mortgagee shall pay all costs and expenses of the Port, including, 
but not limited to, attorney fees, real property transfer taxes, escrow fees and recording fees 
incurred in connection with the preparation and execution of a new lease and any related 
conveyances.   

 
15.6.2 If more than one leasehold mortgagee requests a new lease or in the event 

of a dispute between the Lessee and a leasehold mortgagee, the Port shall have no duty to 
determine the relative priority of the leasehold mortgages and the Port shall have no obligation to 
enter into a new lease with any leasehold mortgagees unless the dispute is resolved to the Port's 
satisfaction within ninety (90) days of the termination of this Lease.   

 
15.6.3 Upon the execution of the new lease by the leasehold mortgagee and the 

Port, the Port will convey to the leasehold mortgagee by quit claim deed, title to any improvements 
on the Property by the Lessee in which the leasehold mortgagee has a recorded mortgage or 
other security interest.  The conveyance of the improvements shall be in "as is" condition without 



 

 

any warranty or representation by the Port concerning the condition of the improvements.  The 
Port will not warrant the title to the improvements and the leasehold mortgagee shall accept the 
title to the improvements subject to any existing encumbrances. 

 
15.6.4 Upon the execution of a new lease and the conveyance of title to 

improvements, if any, it shall be the responsibility of the leasehold mortgagee to cancel and 
discharge this Lease and remove any persons occupying the premises.  The leasehold mortgagee 
shall indemnify the Port and hold it harmless from any obligations, claims, actions, damages, costs 
or expense, including attorney fees, which may arise from such action or from the Port's 
compliance with any of the provisions of this Section 15.6. 

 
16. ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS. Lessee accepts the property in its present condition. For 

purposes of determining the Lessee's compliance with environmental laws as set forth in 
paragraph 13 of the General Terms and Conditions, Lessee warrants that: (a) it has had the 
opportunity to inspect the premises and conduct at its expense any and all studies, 
environmental audits, or other examinations of the property; and (b) that no contamination of the 
soil or other violations of environmental law exists on the site at the commencement of this 
Lease. 

 
17. REVERSION. At the end of the initial thirty-year term, all improvements shall revert to the 

Port as the Airport Sponsor. Should the Lessee desire to exercise their option to extend the Lease 
for an additional ten (10) years, subject to all provisions of Section 2, then the Lessee may do so. 
An appraisal shall occur prior to the start of the additional ten-year term to set a new rental rate at 
fair market value terms. 

 
At the termination of the Lease, whether in the midst of the initial 30-year term, at the end of 

the 30 year term, during or at the end of the first optional ten year term, or during or at the end of 
the second optional ten year term, all ownership, rights, and title to Improvements made by 
Lessee shall revert to the Port.  

 
Ninety days prior to the termination of the lease, the Port and Lessor shall communicate. At 

the Port’s option, the Port may require that the Lessee remove some or all improvements at 
Lessee’s own expense. The Port may require the Lessee to bring the site back to its original site-
ready development parcel in an unimproved state. In the event the Lessee has failed to maintain 
the Property as required by this Lease or the Property is contaminated by toxic or hazardous 
materials as the result of the actions of the Lessee or its successors such that in any event the 
value of the improvements is less than the cost of removal, remediation or renovation to bring the 
Property into compliance, then the Port may require the Lessee to remove any improvements or 
trade fixtures.  The Lessee shall repair at Lessee's expense any damage to the Property resulting 
from such removal.  Any improvements remaining on the property after the term of the lease, if 
Port deems acceptable, shall become the property of the Port. 

 
 

18. CONDITION ASSESSMENT. The Port shall require the Lessee to provide to the Port 
Condition Assessment reports on their facilities during the term of the lease. The Lessee is 
required to have a professional engineer or building inspector perform an assessment of the 
condition of the facilities every five (5) years, as well as within the last year of the Lease. The 
engineer/inspector is hired by and paid for by the tenant, but must be approved by the Port. This 
Condition Assessment will look at the building’s structural components, as well as items such as 
the electrical and plumbing systems, heating and air conditioning system, etc. If the Lessee has 
parking spots or aircraft ramp/apron on their leasehold that they are responsible for, then those 
are assessed, too.  

 



 

 

If there are major items of deferred maintenance, the Port may require that those items are 
addressed to the satisfaction of the Port during the term of the lease, as well as before reversion 
occurs. By having this assessment done on a scheduled basis during the term of a lease, it sets 
forth clear expectations for both parties. Should Lessee fail to remedy any items of concern within 
a reasonable and timely manner, the Port may deem such failure a default under the Lease. 

 
19. MISCELLANEOUS.  
 

19.1 Inspection. The Port reserves the right to enter and inspect the Premises at any 
reasonable time without prior notification or authorization. 

 
19.2 Rules and Regulations. User agrees to comply with all applicable rules, regulations 

and covenants of the Port pertaining to the Premises for the general safety and convenience of 
the Port, invitees, licensees and the general public, including but not limited to vehicle posted 
speed, litter enforcement, signs, excessive noise, annoying lights, irritating odors, or discarding of 
any type of liquids or solids to either the Port’s property or adjoining property. 

 
19.3 Environmental and Premises Cleanup Costs. User shall be fully and completely 

liable to the Port for any and all cleanup costs and any and all other charges, fees and penalties 
imposed by any governmental authority with respect to dangerous or waste substances, or 
discharges to the water, ground water or air, in or about the Premises, common areas or Port 
facilities by User. User shall indemnify, defend and save the Port harmless from any and all of the 
costs, fees, penalties and charges assessed against or imposed upon the Port, as well as the 
Port’s attorneys’ and engineers’ fees and costs, as a result of User’s use, disposal, transportation, 
generation and/or sale of hazardous, dangerous or waste substances, or discharges to the water, 
ground water or air on the Premises. 

 
19.4 RECORDING OF LEASE.  Either party to this Lease may record the Lease with the 

Auditor of Benton County.  In lieu of recording the entire Lease, either party may record a 
memorandum of lease setting forth the legal description of the property, the parties and the term 
of the Lease, together with any additional information which the party deems to be relevant and, 
as long as the information in the memorandum is accurate, the other party agrees to sign the 
memorandum of lease. 

 
20. GENERAL CONDITIONS. 
 

20.1 NONMERGER.  If both Port's and Lessee's estates in the Property or the 
improvements or both become vested in the same owner, this Lease shall nevertheless not be 
destroyed by application of the doctrine of merger except by the express election of the owner and 
the consent of the mortgagee or mortgagees under all mortgages existing upon the Property. 

 
20.2 CAPTIONS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS.  The Table of Contents of this Lease 

and the captions of the various paragraphs are for convenience and ease of reference only and do 
not define, limit, augment or describe the scope, content or intent of this Lease or of any part or 
parts of this Lease. 

 
20.3 EXHIBITS AND ADDENDA.  All exhibits and addenda to which reference is made 

in this Lease are incorporated in the Lease by the respective references to them.  References to 
"this Lease" include matters incorporated by reference. 

 
20.4 SUCCESSORS.  Subject to the provisions of this Lease on assignment and 

subletting, each and all of the covenants and conditions of this Lease shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors, executors, administrators, assigns and personal 



 

 

representatives of the respective parties.  The Port agrees that if the Property is sold, assigned or 
conveyed, except for any conveyance to the United States, the Port will place a provision in any 
conveyance making the conveyance subject to the terms and conditions of this Lease.  The Port 
represents that if this Lease is recorded, any subsequent conveyance of the Property by the Port 
will be subject to the terms of this Lease, with the exception of any conveyance to the United 
States. 

 
20.5 NO BROKERS.  Each party warrants and represents that it has not dealt with any 

real estate brokers or agents in connection with this Lease.  Each party will indemnify and hold the 
other harmless from any cost, expense or liability (including costs of suit and reasonable attorney 
fees) for any compensation, commission or fees claimed by any broker or agent in connection with 
this Lease. 

 
20.6 NO UNREASONABLE WITHHOLDING OR DELAY OF CONSENT.  Whenever this 

Lease requires the consent of either party to an action by the other, the party whose consent is 
requested shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent.  

 
20.7 WARRANTY OF AUTHORITY.  The persons executing and delivering this Lease 

on behalf of Port and Lessee each represent and warrant that each of them is duly authorized to 
do so and that the execution of this Lease is the lawful and voluntary act of the person on whose 
behalf they purport to act. 

 
20.8 QUIET POSSESSION.  The Port agrees that upon compliance with the terms and 

conditions of this Lease, the Lessee shall at all times have the right to the quiet use and 
enjoyment of the Property for the term of the Lease and any extensions. 

 
20.9 LEASE CERTIFICATION.  Upon the request of the Lessee, the Port agrees to 

provide a written certification of the status of the Lease, to the best knowledge of the Port at the 
time of the certification, setting forth the following: i) whether the Lease is in full force and effect; ii) 
whether there have been any amendments or modifications to the Lease; iii) whether the Lessee 
is current in the payment of the rent and other charges under the terms of the Lease; and iv) 
whether the Port is aware of any default or breach on the part of the Lessee. The Port may charge 
a $200 administrative fee for this written certification. 

 
20.10 NON-DISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT.  This Lease shall be superior to any 

mortgage, deed of trust or other lien which may be placed on the Property after the effective date 
of this Lease.  If a mortgage is placed upon the Property, the Port shall deliver to the Lessee a 
Non-disturbance and Attornment Agreement in recordable form which shall covenant that this 
Lease is superior to such mortgage or deed of trust and, provided the Lessee is not in default 
under the Lease, neither the Lease nor the Lessee's rights under the Lease shall be terminated by 
any sale, foreclosure, transfer, assignment or hypothecation of the Property.   

 
21. MODIFICATIONS. This lease constitutes the entire agreement between the parties, 

and may not be changed or modified except by a written agreement signed by both parties. 
 
22. SEVERABILITY. If any term or provision of this lease or the application of any term or 

provision to any person or circumstance is declared invalid or unenforceable, the remainder 
of this Lease, or the application of the term or provision to persons or circumstances other 
than those as to whom it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected and will continue 
in full force and effect. 
 
 
  



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Lease on the ____ day of 
__________, 202_____.  
 
LANDLORD      LESSEE 
PORT OF BENTON     __________________, LLC 
 
BY:_______________________   BY:_______________________ 
DIAHANN HOWARD, PPM®     Name:_____________________ 
Executive Director     Title:_______________________ 
 
ATTEST:__________________ 
DAVID BILLETDEAUX 
General Counsel 
 
State of Washington  ) 
    ) :ss 
County of Benton  ) 
 
On this  _____ day of _______, 202____ , before the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the 
State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared __________ and 
__________________, to me known to be the Executive Director and General Counsel,  
respectively, of the Port of Benton, the municipal corporation that executed the foregoing 
instrument and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of 
said municipal corporation, for the uses and purposes herein mentioned, and on oath stated that 
they are authorized to execute the said instrument and that the seal affixed (if any) is the 
corporate seal of said municipal corporation. 

 
GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ______ _day of _______, 202__. 

 
      ___________________________________________ 
      NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of Washington, 
      Residing at: __________________________________ 

My Commission Expires: ________________________ 
 
State of Washington  ) 
    ) :ss 
County of Benton  ) 
 
On this  _____ day of _______, 202____ , before the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the 
State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared __________  to me 
known to be a member of ______________________, LLC, the limited liability company that 
executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and 
voluntary act and deed of said company, for the uses and purposes herein mentioned, and on 
oath stated that he was authorized to execute said instrument on behalf of said limited liability 
company. 
 
GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ______ _day of _______, 202__. 

 
      ___________________________________________ 
      NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of Washington, 
      Residing at: __________________________________ 

My Commission Expires: ________________________ 
  



 

 

LEASE 
PERSONAL GUARANTY 

 
FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of financial accommodations given to 
___________________________, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, by the Port of 
Benton ("Port"), and in consideration of the Port agreeing to deal with the entity, the undersigned 
hereby jointly and severally guarantees payment to the Port of all obligations of the foregoing 
lease, as more particularly described above. 
 
The Port shall not be bound to exhaust its recourses or take any action against the entities or 
other parties before being entitled to payment by the undersigned of all amounts hereby 
guaranteed, but may make such demand and take such actions as it deems advisable. 
 
Notice of default on the part of the entities is hereby waived and the undersigned agrees to remain 
bound, notwithstanding any extension or renewals of any indebtedness or any liabilities hereby 
guaranteed or any part thereof, and consent is hereby given to ____________________, LLC, to 
make such renewals and extensions as the company, at its option, may choose to grant or accept. 
 
The undersigned guarantees and represents that he is a member of or is financially interested in 
______________________________, LLC. 
 
 
 
Date:  

 
Name: ______________________________ 
 
 
 
State of Washington  ) 
    ) :ss 
County of Benton  ) 
 
On this  _____ day of _______, 202____ , before the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the 
State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared __________  to me 
known to be the individual that executed the within and foregoing instrument and acknowledged 
that he signed the same as his/her/their free and voluntary act and deed for the uses and 
purposes therein mentioned.  
 
GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ______ _day of _______, 202__. 

 
      ___________________________________________ 
      NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of Washington, 
      Residing at: __________________________________ 

My Commission Expires: ________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
RICHLAND/PROSSER Airport 
Lot _______ 
 
[INSERT LEGAL DESCRIPTION] 
  



 

 

SITE MAP FOR EXHIBIT A 
  



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 

GENERAL LEASE TERMS & CONDITIONS 
 

1. BUILDING CONSTRUCTION ON PREMISES. 
 
1.1 Any building construction proposed on the premises shall be approved by the Port 

of Benton and meet any building code requirements of the City of Richland or City of Prosser 
(depending on the location of the proposed hangar). Any buildings so constructed shall be done 
strictly in accordance with full plans and specifications, (including drawings and elevations 
showing the appearance and color of the finished building) approved by the Port prior to 
commencing construction. Prior to construction said plans and specifications shall be approved by 
the Port’s and must have valid permits issued by the requisite City. The building shall be placed 
upon the lot at the location shown on the plot plan submitted to the Port, which must be first 
approved by the Port's Executive Director or designee. Any timber, gravel, or excess soil from 
this construction shall remain the property of the Lessor and shall be removed from the site 
by Lessee to another location on the Airport property determined by the Executive Director or 
their designee. A copy of all "as builts" for the site to include Building, Utility, Drainage and 
Paving plans shall be furnished to the Port in electronic format acceptable to the Airport upon 
completion of construction.   All buildings shall be used for the business purpose(s) set forth in 
paragraph 2 of this lease. 

 
1.2 The Lessee shall commence construction of a building pursuant to the terms of the 

Development Agreement between the parties. The time for construction may be extended for the 
period of any delay caused to Lessee by any strike, unavailability of materials or work forces, 
weather, or similar conditions beyond the control of Lessee. If the Lessee shall not receive the 
permits necessary to construct its proposed building, then the Lessor or Lessee shall have the 
right to terminate this Lease. 

 
1.3 It shall be the responsibility of Lessee to secure at Lessee's sole expense all 

permits and approvals required for the use of the premises and construction of any building 
thereon. As part of the approval process, it shall be the responsibility of the Lessee to submit a 
completed 7460 Form to the FAA for their review. Lessee must provide proof of FAA approval to 
Port prior to issuance of the Building Permit. The height and configuration of any and all buildings 
shall be subject to any restrictions imposed by the FAA and caused by existing landing, runway, or 
taxiway requirements of the airport. Work and/or materials not in accord with the foregoing shall 
be corrected, removed, replaced, and/or repaired by Lessee at its expense upon written notice by 
the Airport Director or his or her designee. If such work and/or material is not so corrected, 
removed, replaced or repaired by Lessee within a reasonable time of such notice, Port may 
correct, remove, replace and/or repair such work or material at Lessee's expense, including the 
costs of utility installation, relocation, or removal required by the construction and its use and 
occupancy of the premises. 

 
1.4 All work by Lessee shall be performed in a safe manner both on the leased 

premises and with respect to other Port property at the airport which might be utilized or affected 
by any activity of Lessee. Work shall be performed so as not to interfere with the use of other 
airport property by Port, its other tenants, or other users of airport property. During any 
construction, Lessee shall keep the leased premises and any other airport property free of waste 
materials and rubbish caused by the work; provided, however, that during construction Lessee 
may temporarily store waste materials and rubbish caused by the work on the Premises if said 
waste material and rubbish are reasonably screened from view of the public or otherwise kept in a 
slightly manner. Material and/or equipment shall not be placed or stored upon airport property 
other than the leased Premises without the prior consent of the Executive Director or his or her 



 

 

designee. 
 
1.5 In the event of termination as provided for herein, Port may retain all rents therefor 

received by it, and all rights of Lessee shall absolutely terminate. In the event that any rent is 
owing by Lessee at the effective date of termination herein, Lessee shall pay said rent (together 
with leasehold or other tax thereon) within ten (10) days of said effective date. This shall not be 
construed as limiting the Landlord's potential obligation to mitigate damages in the event of 
termination nor permit acceleration of rent without court order. 

 
1.6 During the initial term of this lease, all buildings and improvements to the property 

shall be the property of Lessee. At the expiration of the initial term of the lease, Port shall have the 
option in its sole discretion to accept a deed or other conveyance of the improvements constructed 
hereunder, or of requiring Lessee to remove any buildings or other improvements made to the 
premises and restore the premises to the same condition as when first leased. 
 

2. CLEARING AND GRADING PREMISES.   Lessee shall perform at Lessee's own expense 
any clearing or grading of the premises required. Grading and clearing shall be done in the 
manner and to the standards and grades set forth in the approved plans and specifications and 
subject to the conditions, if any, of any grading permit that may be required prior to 
commencement of any grading. The “Reversion” and “Condition Assessment” provisions of an 
individual Lessee’s Lease Agreement shall control. 

 
3. REPAIRS. The premises have been inspected and are accepted in their present condition, 

and Lessee will at all times keep the premises neat, clean and in a sanitary condition, and will 
replace any glass of all broken windows and doors of the building as may become cracked or 
broken, and except for reasonable wear and tear and damage by fire or other unavoidable 
casualty, will at all times preserve said premises in as good repair as they now are or may 
hereafter be put to. All repairs shall be at Lessee's sole cost and expense. Lessee agrees that at 
the expiration or sooner termination of this lease Lessee will quit and surrender said premises 
without notice and in a neat and clean condition and will deliver to Port all keys to all buildings on 
the premises. 

 
4. UTILITIES. Lessee hereby covenants and agrees to pay all charges for heat, light, water 

and sewer, and for all other public utilities which shall be used in or charged against the Leased 
premises during the full term of this lease. Lessee shall at its cost construct and keep in repair a 
suitable lawful sewage system, in accordance with Benton County health and sanitary regulations. 
Any permits therefor which may be required shall be secured by Lessee at Lessee's expense prior 
to installation. 

 
5. WATER SERVICE. Public water has been extended to the premises by Port. Lessee shall 

pay any connection charges required by city ordinance. Lessee shall be entirely responsible for 
the extension into the leased premises of said water for its own and any subtenant's purposes, 
and shall pay the entire cost thereof, including but not limited to labor, pipes, meter box, all 
necessary fittings, and the cost of any permits. Prior to installation, Port shall approve all plans 
and specifications for the water service within the premises to assure that said service meets all 
applicable building and other codes, laws, rules and regulations, and shall inspect and approve 
the same prior to covering any water lines or appurtenances. Nothing herein shall be construed as 
obligating Port at any time to make changes in the water service to the premises, such as 
increasing the size of the water line. 

 
6. ACCIDENTS-INDEMNITY. All personal property on said leased premises shall be at the 

risk of Lessee. Port shall not be liable for any damage, either to person or property, sustained by 
Lessee or others, caused by any defects now in said premises or hereafter occurring therein, or 



 

 

due to the condition of any buildings hereafter erected to any part or appurtenances thereof 
becoming out of repair, or caused by fire or by the bursting or leaking water, gas, sewer or steam 
pipes, or from any act or neglect of Port, its employees, its elected and appointed officials, tenants 
or other occupants of said buildings, or any other persons, including Port, or due to the happening 
of any accident from any cause in or about said buildings. Lessee covenants to protect, save and 
indemnify Port, its elected and appointed officials and employees while acting within the scope of 
their duties as such, harmless from and against all claims, demands and causes of action of any 
kind or character, including the cost of defense thereof, arising in favor of Lessee's employees or 
third parties on account of personal injuries, death or damage to property arising out of the 
premises leased by Lessee or in any way resulting from the willful or negligent acts or omission of 
Lessee and/or its agents, employees or representatives. 

 
7. NO OCCUPANCY OF BUILDING(S) PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF 

OCCUPANCY. Lessee shall not occupy or use any building hereafter erected on the Premises 
until a final or temporary certificate of occupancy thereof shall have been issued by Port's Building 
Official. 

 
8. CARE OF PREMISES. Port shall not be called upon to make any improvements or repairs 

of any kind upon said premises and said premises shall at all times be kept and used in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Washington, ordinances of the Port of Benton, rules and 
regulations and minimum standards of the Port and in accordance with all directions, rules and 
regulations of the health officer, fire marshal, building official or other proper officer of any 
pertinent and authorized public authority, at the sole cost and expense of Lessee. Lessee will 
commit or permit no waste, damage or injury to the premises, and at Lessee's own cost and 
expense, will keep all drainage pipes free and open and will protect water, heating and other pipes 
so that they will not freeze or become clogged, and will repair all leaks, and will also repair all 
damages caused by leaks or by reason of Lessee's failure to protect and keep free, open and 
unfrozen any of the pipes and plumbing on said premises. 

 
9. LAWS AND REGULATIONS 

 
9.1 Lessee shall conduct and carry on in said premises only the business for which 

said premises are leased and shall not use the premises for illegal purposes. The premises 
shall not be used for residential purposes. Lessee shall comply with all applicable laws, 
ordinances, codes and airport rules and regulations, and minimum standards both those in 
existence at the commencement of this lease as well as those in existence in the future. 
Lessee shall be responsible for securing and maintaining all permits and paying, when due, 
all costs, fees, taxes, and other charges or benefits incidental to the lease, construction, and 
use of the leased premises. 

 
9.2 Under the requirements imposed upon the Port as recipient of Federal Aid, Funds, 

Grants, and Assurances, the parties agree as follows: 
 

9.2.1 Lessee covenants that it will not, in its operation at the Port Airport, on the 
basis of race, color, creed, or national origin, discriminate or permit discrimination against any 
person or group of persons in any manner prohibited by Part 21 of the Federal Aviation 
Regulations (49 CFR), and in the event of such discrimination, Lessee agrees that Port has the 
right to take such action as the United States Government may direct to enforce this covenant. 

 
9.2.2 With respect to any aeronautical services, Lessee agrees: 
 

9.2.2.1 To furnish said aeronautical service on a fair, equal, and not unjustly 
discriminatory basis to all users thereof, and 



 

 

9.2.2.2 To charge fair, reasonable and not unjustly discriminatory prices for 
each unit of service, provided, that Lessee may be allowed to make reasonable and nondiscriminatory 
discounts, rebates or other similar types of price reductions to volume purchasers. 
 
 

10. COMPLIANCE WITH FAA LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
10.1 The LESSEE, in the performance of this Agreement, shall comply with all 

applicable federal, state or local laws and ordinances, including regulations for licensing, 
certification and operation of facilities, programs and accreditation, and licensing of individuals, 
and any other standards or criteria as described in this Agreement to assure quality of services. 

 
10.2 The LESSEE specifically agrees to pay any applicable business and occupation 

(B&O) taxes which may be due on account of this Agreement. 
 
10.3 ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS. The LESSEE must maintain an 

acceptable cost accounting system. The LESSEE agrees to provide the sponsor, the Federal 
Aviation Administration, and the Comptroller General of the United States or duly authorized 
representatives, access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the LESSEE which are 
directly pertinent to the specific contract for the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts 
and transcriptions. The LESSEE agrees to maintain all books, records and reports required under 
this contract for a period of not less than three years after final payment is made and all pending 
matters are closed. 

 
10.4 General Civil Rights Provisions. The LESSEE agrees to comply with pertinent 

statutes, Executive Orders and such rules as are promulgated to ensure that no person shall, on 
the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability be excluded from 
participating in any activity conducted with or benefiting from Federal assistance. This provision 
binds the LESSEE and subtier contractors from the bid solicitation period through the completion 
of the contract. This provision is in addition to that required of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964. 

 
10.5 Title VI Solicitation Notice: The CITY, in accordance with the provisions of Title VI 

of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d to 2000d-4) and the Regulations, 
hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that any contract entered into pursuant to 
this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded full and fair opportunity to 
submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be discriminated against on the grounds of 
race, color, or national origin in consideration for an award. 

 
 

10.6 Compliance with Nondiscrimination Requirements. During the performance of this 
contract, the LESSEE, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest (hereinafter referred to 
as the "LESSEE") agrees as follows: 

 
10.6.1 Compliance with Regulations: The LESSEE will comply with the Title VI List 

of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities, as they may be amended from time to time, 
which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this contract. 

 
10.6.2 Non-discrimination: The LESSEE, with regard to the work performed by it 

during the contract, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in the 
selection and retention of subcontractors, including procurements of materials and leases of 
equipment. The LESSEE will not participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by 
the Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities, including employment practices when the contract 



 

 

covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 CFR part 21. 
 

10.6.3 Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and 
Equipment: In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the LESSEE 
for work to be performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or leases of 
equipment, each potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the LESSEE of the 
LESSEE'S obligations under this contract and the Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities on the 
grounds of race, color, or national origin. 

 
10.6.4 Information and Reports: The LESSEE will provide all information and 

reports required by the Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto and will 
permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as 
may be determined by the sponsor or the Federal Aviation Administration to be pertinent to 
ascertain compliance with such Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities and instructions. Where 
any information required of a LESSEE is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or 
refuses to furnish the information, the LESSEE will so certify to the sponsor or the Federal 
Aviation Administration, as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the 
information. 

 
10.6.5 Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of a LESSEE's noncompliance 

with the Nondiscrimination provisions of this contract, the sponsor will impose such contract 
sanctions as it or the Federal Aviation Administration may determine to be appropriate, including, 
but not limited to: 

10.6.5.1 Withholding payments to the LESSEE under the contract 
until the LESSEE complies; and/or; 

 
10.6.5.2 Cancelling, terminating, or suspending a contract, in whole or 

in part. 
 

10.6.6 Incorporation of Provisions: The LESSEE will include the provisions of 
paragraphs 10.6.1 through 10.6.5.2 in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and 
leases of equipment, Required Contact Provisions Issued on January 29, 2016 Page 19 AIP 
Grants and Obligated Sponsors Airports (ARP) unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and 
directives issued pursuant thereto. The LESSEE will take action with respect to any subcontract or 
procurement as the sponsor or the Federal Aviation Administration may direct as a means of 
enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance. 

 
Provided, that if the LESSEE becomes involved in, or is threatened with litigation by a 
subcontractor, or supplier because of such direction, the LESSEE may request the sponsor to 
enter into any litigation to protect the interests of the sponsor. In addition, the LESSEE may 
request the United States to enter into the litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 
 

10.6.7 The Lessee for itself, its heirs, personal representatives, successors in 
interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as a 
covenant running with the land that: 

10.6.7.1 In the event facilities are constructed, maintained, or 
otherwise operated on the property described in this lease for a purpose for which a Federal 
Aviation Administration activity, facility, or program is extended or for another purpose involving 
the provision of similar services or benefits, the Lessee will maintain and operate such facilities 
and services in compliance with all requirements imposed by the Nondiscrimination Acts and 
Regulations listed in the Pertinent List of Nondiscrimination Authorities (as may be amended) such 
that no person on the grounds of race, color, or national origin, will be excluded from participation 
in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the use of said facilities. 



 

 

10.6.7.2 With respect to this Lease, in the event of breach of any of 
the above Nondiscrimination covenants, the City will have the right to terminate the lease and to 
enter, re-enter, and repossess said lands and facilities thereon, and hold the same as if the lease 
had never been made or issued. 

 
10.7 Applicable Nondiscrimination Statutes. During the performance of this contract, the 

LESSEE, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest (hereinafter referred to as the 
"LESSEE") agrees to comply with the following nondiscrimination statutes and authorities; 
including but not limited to: 

 
• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), 

(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin); 
 
• 49 CFR part 21 (Non-discrimination In Federally-Assisted Programs of The 

Department of Transportation-Effectuation of Title VI of The Civil Rights Act of 
1964); 

 
• The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act 

of 1970, (42 U.S.C. § 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or 
whose property has been acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs 
and projects); 

 
• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as 

amended, (prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR part27; 
 
• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.), 

(prohibits discrimination on the basis of age); 
 
• Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC § 471, Section 47123), as 

amended, (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or 
sex); 

 
• The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100 209), (Broadened the scope, 

coverage and applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age 
Discrimination Act of 1975 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by 
expanding the definition of the terms "programs or activities" to include all of the 
programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, subrecipients and contractors, 
whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or not); 

 
• Titles II and Ill of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which prohibit 

discrimination on the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public 
and private transportation systems, places of public accommodation, and certain 
testing entities (42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 - 12189) as implemented by Department of 
Transportation regulations at 49 CFR parts 37 and 38; 

 
• The Federal Aviation Administration's Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. § 

47123) (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and 
sex); 

 
• Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in 

Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures non-
discrimination against minority populations by discouraging programs, policies, and 
activities with disproportionately high and adverse human health or environmental 



 

 

effects on minority and low-income populations; 
 
• Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited 

English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination 
includes discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure 
compliance with Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP 
persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 
74100); 

 
• Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits 

you from discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 
U.S.C. 1681 et seq). 

 
10.8 Texting While Driving. In accordance with Executive Order 13513, "Federal 

Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging While Driving" (10/1/2009) and DOT Order 3902.10 
"Text Messaging While Driving" (12/30/2009), the FAA encourages recipients of Federal grant 
funds to adopt and enforce safety policies that decrease crashes by distracted drivers, 
including policies to ban text messaging while driving when performing work related to a grant 
or sub-grant.  

 
In support of this initiative, the Owner encourages the LESSEE to promote policies and 
initiatives for its employees and other work personnel that decrease crashes by distracted 
drivers, including policies that ban text messaging while driving motor vehicles while 
performing work activities associated with the project. The LESSEE must include the 
substance of this clause in all sub-tier contracts exceeding $3,500 and involve driving a motor 
vehicle in performance of work activities associated with the project. 
 

10.9 Energy Conservation Requirements. LESSEE and its subcontractors agree to 
comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency as contained in the 
state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act 
(42 U.S.C. 6201et seq). 

 
10.10 Federal Fair Labor Standards Act. All contracts and subcontracts that result from 

this solicitation incorporate by reference the provisions of 29 CFR part 201, the Federal Fair 
Labor Standards Act (FLSA), with the same force and effect as if given in full text. The FLSA 
sets minimum wage, overtime pay, recordkeeping, and child labor standards for full and part 
time workers. The LESSEE has full responsibility to monitor compliance to the referenced 
statute or regulation. The LESSEE must address any claims or disputes that arise from this 
requirement directly with the U.S. Department of Labor - Wage and Hour Division 

 
10.11 Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970. All contracts and subcontracts that 

result from this solicitation incorporate by reference the requirements of 29 CFR Part 1910 with 
the same force and effect as if given in full text. LESSEE must provide a work environment that is 
free from recognized hazards that may cause death or serious physical harm to the employee. 
The LESSEE retains full responsibility to monitor its compliance and their subcontractor's 
compliance with the applicable requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 
(20 CFR Part 1910). LESSEE must address any claims or disputes that pertain to a referenced 
requirement directly with the U.S. Department of Labor- Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration. 

 
10.12 Trade Restriction Certification. By submission of an offer, the LESSEE certifies that 

with respect to this solicitation and any resultant contract, the LESSEE: 
 



 

 

10.12.1 is not owned or controlled by one or more citizens of a foreign 
country included in the list of countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by the 
Office of the United States Trade Representative (U.S.T.R.); 

 
10.12.2 has not knowingly entered into any contract or subcontract for 

this project with a person that is a citizen or national of a foreign country included on the list of 
countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by the U.S.T.R; and 

 
10.12.3 has not entered into any subcontract for any product to be used 

on the Federal on the project that is produced in a foreign country included on the list of 
countries that discriminate against U.S. firms published by the U.S.T.R. 
 
This certification concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of an agency of the United States of 
America and the making of a false, fictitious, or fraudulent certification may render the maker 
subject to prosecution under Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001. The LESSEE must 
provide immediate written notice to the Owner if the LESSEE learns that its certification or 
that of a subcontractor was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of 
changed circumstances. The LESSEE must require subcontractors provide immediate written 
notice to the LESSEE if at any time it learns that its certification was erroneous by reason of 
changed circumstances. 
 
Unless the restrictions of this clause are waived by the Secretary of Transportation in 
accordance with 49 CFR 30.17, no contract shall be awarded to a LESSEE or subcontractor: 
 

10.12.3.1 who is owned or controlled by one or more citizens or nationals 
of a foreign country included on the list of countries that discriminate against 
U.S. firms published by the U.S.T.R. or 
 

10.12.3.2 whose subcontractors are owned or controlled by one or more 
citizens or nationals of a foreign country on such U.S.T.R list or 

 
10.12.3.3 who incorporates in the public works project any product of a 

foreign country on such U.S.T.R. list; 
 

Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of 
records in order to render, in good faith, the certification required by this provision. The 
knowledge and information of LESSEE is not required to exceed that which is normally 
possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business dealings. 

 
The LESSEE agrees that it will incorporate this provision for certification without modification 
in in all lower tier subcontracts. The LESSEE may rely on the certification of a prospective 
subcontractor that it is not a firm from a foreign country included on the list of countries that 
discriminate against U.S. firms as published by U.S.T.R, unless the LESSEE has knowledge that 
the certification is erroneous. 

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when 
making an award. If it is later determined that the LESSEE or subcontractor knowingly 
rendered an erroneous certification, the Federal Aviation Administration may direct through the 
Owner cancellation of the contract or subcontract for default at no cost to the Owner or the 
FAA. 

 
10.13 Veteran's Preference. In the employment of labor (excluding executive, 

administrative, and supervisory positions), the LESSEE and all sub-tier contractors must give 



 

 

preference to covered veterans as defined within Title 49 United States Code Section 47112. 
Covered veterans include Vietnam-era veterans, Persian Gulf veterans, Afghanistan-Iraq war 
veterans, disabled veterans, and small business concerns (as defined by 15 U.S.C. 632) 
owned and controlled by disabled veterans. This preference only applies when there are 
covered veterans readily available and qualified to perform the work to which the employment 
relates. 

 
10.14 Certification Regarding Lobbying. The LESSEE certifies by signing and submitting 

this agreement, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 
 

10.14.1 No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or 
on behalf of the LESSEE, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an 
employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, 
the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any 
cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of 
any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

10.14.2 If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid 
or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of 
any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 
Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to 
Report Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions. 

10.14.3 The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification 
be included in the award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-
grants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly. 
 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for 
making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any 
person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less 
than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 
 

10.15 Clean Air and Water Pollution Control. LESSEE agrees to comply with all 
applicable standards, orders, and regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 
740-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. § 1251-1387). 
The LESSEE agrees to report any violation to the Owner immediately upon discovery. The Owner 
assumes responsibility for notifying the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the Federal 
Aviation Administration. 

 
10.16 Certification of LESSEE regarding Debarment. The LESSEE certifies that neither it 

nor its principals are presently debarred or suspended by any Federal department or agency from 
participation in this transaction. 
 

10.17 Certification of LESSEE regarding Tax Delinquency and Felony Convictions 
10.17.1 LESSEE represents that it is not a corporation that has any 

unpaid Federal tax liability that has been assessed, for which all judicial and administrative 
remedies have been exhausted or have lapsed, and that is not being paid in a timely manner 
pursuant to an agreement with the authority responsible for collecting the tax liability. 

10.17.2 The LESSEE represents that it is not a corporation that was 
convicted of a criminal violation under any Federal law within the preceding 24 months. 
 



 

 

10.18 Disadvantaged Business Enterprises Provisions. LESSEE shall not discriminate on 
the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The LESSEE 
shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR part 26 in the award and administration of 
Department of Transportation-assisted contracts. Failure by the Contractor to carry out these 
requirements is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this 
contract or such other remedy as the Owner deems appropriate, which may include, but is not 
limited to:  

10.18.1 Withholding monthly progress payments;  
10.18.2 Assessing sanctions;  
10.18.3 Liquidated damages; and/or  
10.18.4 Disqualifying the Contractor from future bidding as non-responsible. 
 

10.19 Breach of Contract. Any violation or breach of terms of this contract on the part of 
the contractor or its subcontractors may result in the suspension or termination of this contract or 
such other action that may be necessary to enforce the rights of the parties of this agreement. 
 
Owner will provide LESSEE written notice that describes the nature of the breach and corrective 
actions the LESSEE must undertake in order to avoid termination of the contract. Owner reserves 
the right to withhold payments to LESSEE until such time the LESSEE corrects the breach or the 
Owner elects to terminate the contract. The Owner's notice will identify a specific date by which 
the LESSEE must correct the breach. Owner may proceed with termination of the contract if the 
LESSEE fails to correct the breach by deadline indicated in the Owner's notice. 
 
The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the rights and remedies 
available thereunder are in addition to, and not a limitation of, any duties, obligations, rights and 
remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. 
 
 

11. LIENS AND INSOLVENCY. Lessee shall keep the leased premises and the property in 
which the leased premises are situated free from any liens arising out of any work performed, 
materials furnished or obligations incurred by Lessee. If any liens are filed on the property, Lessee 
shall promptly discharge the same and shall take all steps required to protect Port's interests, 
including discharging the lien or placing funds in escrow in an amount acceptable to Port. Lessee 
shall pay all of Port's expenses relating to the filing of liens, including, but not limited to, Port's 
attorney fees relating in any way to the lien filing. If Lessee becomes insolvent, voluntarily or 
involuntarily bankrupt, or if a receiver, assignee or other liquidating officer is appointed for the 
business of Lessee, Port may cancel this lease at Port's option. 

 
12. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES AND HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES. 

 
12.1 Hazardous Substances. The term "Hazardous Substances", as used in this Lease, shall 

include, without limitation, any polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum products, asbestos, and any other 
hazardous, toxic or radioactive substance or waste, the release, discharge, emission, storage, 
handling or disposal of which is or becomes regulated by any existing or future laws. 

 
12.2 Lessee's Restrictions. Lessee shall not cause or permit to occur: 

 
12.2.1 Any violation of any federal, state or local law, ordinance, or regulation now or 

hereafter enacted, related to environmental conditions on, under, or about the 
Premises or anywhere on the Airport, or arising from Lessee's use or 
occupancy of the Premises or the Airport, including, but not limited to, soil and 
ground water conditions; or 

12.2.2 The use, generation, release, manufacture, refining, production, processing, 



 

 

storage, or disposal of any Hazardous Substance on, under, or about the 
Premises or anywhere on the airport, or the transportation to or from the 
Premises or Airport of any Hazardous Substance, except as specifically 
disclosed in this Lease. 

 
12.3 Environmental Clean-up. 

 
12.3.1 Lessee shall, at Lessee's own expense, comply with all laws regulating the 

use, generation, storage, transportation, or disposal of Hazardous Substances ("Laws"). 
 
12.3.2 Lessee shall, at Lessee's own expense, make all submissions to, provide all 

information required by, and comply with all requirements of all governmental authorities (the 
"Authorities") under the Laws. 

 
12.3.3 Should any Authority or any third party demand, pursuant to applicable law, 

that a cleanup plan be prepared and that a cleanup be undertaken because of any deposit, spill, 
discharge, or other release of Hazardous substances that occurs during the Term of this Lease, 
at or from the Premises or on the Airport, or which arises at any time from Lessee's use or 
occupancy of the Premises or the Airport, then Lessee shall, at Lessee's own expense, prepare 
and submit the required plans and all related bonds and other financial assurances required by 
law; and Lessee shall carry out all such cleanup plans. This provision shall not be considered 
a waiver of any right of Tenant to challenge the legality of such demand. 

 
12.3.4 Lessee shall promptly provide all information regarding the use, generation, 

storage, transportation, or disposal of Hazardous Substances that is requested by Port. If 
Lessee fails to fulfill any duty imposed under this Paragraph 12.3 within a reasonable time, 
Port may do so; and in such case, Lessee shall cooperate with Port in order to prepare all 
documents Port deems necessary or appropriate to determine the applicability of the Laws to 
the Premises and Lessee's use thereof, and for compliance therewith, and Lessee shall execute 
all documents promptly upon Port's request.   No such action by Port and no attempt made by 
Port to mitigate damages under any Law shall constitute a waiver of any of Lessee's obligations 
under this Paragraph 12.3. 

 
12.3.5 Lessee's obligations and liabilities under this Paragraph (12.3) shall survive 

the expiration of this Lease. 
 

12.4 Lessee's Indemnity. 
 

12.4.1 Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Port, its elected and 
appointed officials, agents, and employees from all fines, suits, procedures, claims, and actions of 
every kind, and all costs associated therewith (including attorneys' and Lessees' fees) arising out 
of or in any way connected with any deposit, spill, discharge, or other release of Hazardous 
Substances that occurs during the term of this Lease, at or from the Premises, anywhere on 
the Airport as a result of the Lessee's activities and/or involving Lessee's equipment and/or 
employees or which arises at any time from Lessee's use or occupancy of the Premises, or 
from Lessee's failure to provide all information, make all submissions, and take all steps 
required by all Authorities under the laws and all other environmental laws. The term 
"Hazardous Substances" as used herein shall mean any substance heretofore or hereafter 
designated as hazardous under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 use Sec. 
6901 et seq; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 USC Sec.  1257 et seq.; the Clean 
Air Act, 42 USC Sec. 2001 et seq.; the Comprehensive Environmental Response 
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 USC Sec. 9601 et seq.; or the Hazardous Waste 
Cleanup Model Toxic Control Act, RCW 70.105D, all as amended and subject to all 



 

 

regulations promulgated there under. 
 
12.4.2 Lessee's obligations and liabilities under this Paragraph 13.4 shall survive 

the expiration of this Lease. 
 

12.5 Compliance With Future Laws. Lessee shall comply with all federal, state, 
county, municipal, and other governmental laws, ordinances, rules and regulations now or 
hereafter affecting the Premises, Lessee's business, or any activity or condition on or about the 
Premises, including, without limitation, all environmental laws and any other laws relating to the 
improvements on the Premises or the air in and around the Premises (collectively, the 
"Laws"). Lessee warrants that its business and all activities to be conducted or performed in, on, 
or about the Premises shall comply with all of the Laws.  Lessee agrees to change, reduce, or 
stop any such activity, or install necessary equipment, safety devices, pollution control 
systems, or other installations at any time during the lease to so comply. 

 
If, during the lease Lessee is required to alter, convert, replace the HVAC system serving the 
Premises in order to comply with any of the Laws concerning indoor air pollution or quality, or in 
order to meet any applicable limitation on, standard for, or guideline relating to indoor air 
quality or the emission of any indoor air pollutant, including, without limitation, those adopted 
by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the American Society of Heating, 
Refrigeration, and Air Conditioning Engineers, or the Environmental Protection Agency, 
Lessee shall be responsible for paying all costs or any such conversion or replacement, 
including without limitation, the purchase and installation of new equipment, and the alteration 
of existing HVAC equipment in the Premises to accommodate any new equipment. 

 
12.6 Reporting Requirements. Each party agrees to comply with all local, state and 

federal laws, rules, regulations or statutes requiring the submission, reporting, or filing of 
information about the storage, use, or discharge of chemical or other substances at the 
Premises or in the Building, and provide to the other a full copy of any such filing or report as 
submitted within 15 days of such submission. 

 
12.7 Limited Use of Hazardous Substances by Lessee. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, Lessee may handle, store, use or dispose of products containing small quantities of 
Hazardous Materials (such as aerosol cans containing insecticides, toner for copiers, paints, paint 
remover and the like) to the extent customary and necessary for the use of the Premises for 
general light industrial or office purposes; provided that Lessee shall always handle, store, use, 
and dispose of any such Hazardous Materials in a safe and lawful manner and never allow such 
Hazardous Materials to contaminate the Premises, and appurtenant land or the environment. 

 
Lessee hereby agrees that the premises may not be used for any purpose which, in Port's sole 
discretion, exposes the building or those occupying it to an unreasonable danger of exposure to 
electromagnetic rays and/or fields. Breach of this provision by Lessee shall entitle Port, in 
addition to any other remedies which it may have, to injunctive relief, it being acknowledged 
that monetary damages are insufficient. 

 
12.8 Right to Confirm Lessee's Environmental Compliance. Lessee shall fully 

cooperate in allowing, from time to time, such examinations, tests, inspections, and reviews of 
the premises as Port, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine to be advisable in order 
to evaluate any potential environmental problems. Port expressly reserves the right to conduct 
examinations, tests, (including but not limited to a geohydrologic survey of soil and subsurface 
conditions), inspections, and reviews of the premises as Port in its sole and absolute discretion 
may determine to be necessary. Any such testing shall be at Port's expense, subject to any 
right of reimbursement which may exist under applicable law. 



 

 

 
The right reserved to Port in this provision to conduct such examinations, test, inspections, 
and reviews of the premises as Port, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine to be 
advisable shall be exercised by Port in a reasonable fashion. More specifically, no such test shall 
be conducted during the normal business hours of Lessee, unless Lessee specifically agrees 
otherwise. Port shall take all reasonable steps to restore the premises to the condition in which 
they existed prior to the taking of such steps. Port shall take all reasonable steps to ensure 
that no conditions on the premises associated with such testing shall create an unreasonable 
risk or an unreasonable hazard. 

 
13. WASTE WATER. This lease is subject to all statutes and regulations of the state of 

Washington with respect to waste water disposal. If Lessee's use of the premises results in the 
discharge or the potential for discharge of any waste waters other than domestic waste waters 
from the premises, Lessee shall immediately apply to the Washington State Department of Ecology 
for a State Waste Water Discharge Permit. Lessee shall advise the Port which storm drains or other 
waste water facilities Lessee will utilize in disposing of waste waters. Port may designate storm 
sewers or other facilities which Lessee may use to dispose of waste waters. Sanitary sewers shall not 
be used for storm drainage or the discharge of any effluent deemed by the Airport Director to be 
harmful to the sanitary sewer system. No hazardous or toxic materials shall be discharged into the 
sanitary or storm sewer systems. Lessee shall complete the Industrial/Commercial Waste Discharge 
Permit application. 
 

14. WETLANDS. Lessee shall not damage or destroy and shall maintain and preserve 
Wetlands existing on the leased premises. Any wetlands destroyed by Lessee shall be replaced as 
required by law. 

 
15. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. 

 
15.1 The Lessee's interest in this lease may be assigned by Lessee with the prior written 

consent of Port, to an assignee such as a bank for security for money loaned or advanced to 
Lessee for construction on the premises or other business purposes of Lessee. Port's consent 
thereto shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Port shall execute such instruments in 
recordable form as Lessee's lenders may reasonably require, provided said instruments do not 
materially adversely affect any of Port's rights or materially increase any of Landlord's obligations 
under this Lease. 

 
15.2 This lease may be assigned by Lessee in whole only to an assignee other than for 

security purposes whose use of the premises has prior to such assignment been approved in 
writing by Port. In such latter case, such assignment may only be made to an assignee for a use 
of the premises for such business purpose as is consistent with the zoning restrictions for the 
premises. Finally, in such latter   se, the assignee must be shown to Port to be of such financial 
standing and responsibility at the time of such assignment as to give reasonable assurance to Port 
of prompt payment of all rents and other amounts to be paid under this lease, and of full 
compliance with all other terms, covenants, conditions and provisions of the lease. No such 
assignment may be made or be of any force or effect if at the time of such assignment Lessee is 
in default in any of the terms, covenants, conditions and provisions of the lease, including default 
in the payment of rent: provided, however, the assignee may cure the default(s) prior to taking 
possession of the premises. No such assignment for any purpose shall be of any force or effect 
unless Port first shall in writing have consented to said assignment and has received a true copy 
of the proposed assignment. The Port may not refuse to consent to such assignment for any 
purpose hereinabove set forth. Such assignment shall include the then-unexpired balance of the 
term of this lease. 

15.3 Lessee may sublet the whole or any portion of any buildings on the premises, but 



 

 

not the real property (other than that part of the real property which is beneath the buildings), 
to a subtenant or subtenants; provided:  (1) that the use to be made of the buildings is 
consistent with the terms of the Lease and applicable zoning restrictions and federal grant 
assurances for the premises and federal grant assurances, (2) Port has in writing been given 
notice of the sublease and contact information for the proposed subtenant (3) Any proposed 
sublease includes a section stating that the sublease is bound to the conditions of the master 
lease, (4) the subtenant shall meet the insurance requirements of the primary lease, which shall 
be evidenced by the Lessee providing proof of insurance for all subtenants to Port and shall 
comply with all hold harmless and indemnification provisions of this lease; and (5) any other 
conditions as may be required by the most current Airport Sublease Policy. Port may not refuse 
to consent to such a sublease where the sublease meets the above requirements. 

 
15.4 If all or any part of the leased premises be sublet or occupied by anybody other 

than Lessee, Port may, after default by Lessee, and subject to any prior rights of Lessee's lenders, 
collect rent and leasehold tax from any and all subtenants or occupants, and apply the net amount 
collected to the rent reserved herein, but no such collection shall be deemed a waiver of any 
agreement, term, covenant or condition hereof nor the acceptance by Port of any subtenant 
or occupant as tenant. 
 

16. ACCESS. Lessee will allow Port or Port's agents free access at all reasonable times 
and upon at least twenty-four (24) hours’ notice to said premises during normal business hours 
for the purpose of inspection. Nothing herein shall be construed as in any way limiting the 
authority of Port's rights under existing law. 

 
17. INDEMNITY AND HOLD HARMLESS.   The Lessee agrees to indemnify and hold Port 

harmless as provided herein to the maximum extent possible under law. Accordingly, Lessee 
agrees for itself, its successors, and assigns, to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Port, its 
appointed and elected officials, and employees from and against liability for all claims, demands, 
suits, and judgments, including costs of defense thereof for injury to persons, death, or property 
damage which is caused by, arises out of, or is incidental to Lessee's exercise of rights and 
privileges granted by this lease Agreement. 

 
The Lessee's obligations under this section shall include: 
 

17.1 Indemnification for such claims whether or not they arise from the sole 
negligence of Lessee or the concurrent negligence of both parties, except to the extent of 
Port's negligence or the negligence of one or more third parties; 

 
17.2 The duty to promptly accept tender of defense and provide defense to Port at 

Lessee's own expense; 
 

17.3 Indemnification of claims made by Lessee's own employees or agents; and, 
 

17.4 Waiver of Lessee's immunity under the industrial insurance provisions of Title 
51R.C.W. but only to the extent necessary to indemnify Port, which waiver has been mutually 
negotiated by the parties. 
 
In the event it is necessary for Port to incur attorneys’ fees, legal expenses or other costs to 
enforce the provisions of this section, all such fees, expenses and costs shall be recoverable from 
Lessee. 
 
In the event it is determined that RCW 4.24.115 applies to this Lease Agreement, Lessee agrees 
to defend, hold harmless, and indemnify Port to the maximum extent permitted thereunder, and 



 

 

specifically for its negligence concurrent with that of Port to the full extent of Lessee's negligence. 
Lessee agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Port for claims by Lessee's employees and 
agrees to waiver of its immunity under Title 51 R.C.W., which waiver has been mutually negotiated 
by the parties. 
 

18. FIRE INSURANCE. 
 
18.1 Lessee will carry fire and extended coverage insurance with rent interruption 

endorsement in an amount equal to the full insurable value of all improvements, structures, and 
buildings located on the Premises. The policy shall include Port as an insured for its vested interest 
in the property. A certificate of insurance shall be provided to Port. 

 
18.2 In the event of the total or partial destruction by fire (or otherwise) of the building, 

structures, or facilities currently on the Premises or subsequently constructed by lessee, Lessee shall 
have the obligation to reconstruct such facilities to their original condition within six (6) months 
after their destruction, or to demolish the buildings, structures or facilities and restore the Premises 
to the same condition as when leased to Lessee 

 
18.3 Lessee shall maintain in full force and effect on all of its fixtures and equipment in 

the Premises, a policy or policies of fire and extended-coverage insurance with standard coverage 
endorsement to the extent of at least eighty percent (80%) of their insurable value, or to the extent 
of at least the minimum required insurance limit as stated in the Airport's most current policy, 
whichever is greater. During the term of this lease, the proceeds from any such policy or policies 
of insurance shall be used for the repair or replacement of the fixtures and equipment so insured. 
Port shall have no interest in the insurance upon Lessee's equipment and fixtures and will sign all 
documents necessary or proper in connection with the settlement of any claim or loss by Lessee. 
Lessee shall furnish Port with a certificate of such policy and whenever required shall satisfy Port 
that such policy is in full force and effect within thirty (30) days of the commencement of this 
Lease. Port will not carry insurance on Lessee's property. 

 
19. LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. 

 
19.1 Insurance Term. The Lessee shall procure and maintain for the duration of the 

Agreement, insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise 
from or in connection with the Lessee's operation and use of the leased Premises. 

19.2 No Limitation. Lessee's maintenance of insurance as required by the agreement shall 
not be construed to limit the liability of the Lessee to the coverage provided by such insurance, or 
otherwise limit the Public Entity's recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 

19.3 Minimum Scope of Insurance. Lessee shall obtain Commercial General Liability 
insurance which shall be at least as broad as Insurance Services Office (ISO) occurrence form CG 
00 01 and shall cover premises and contractual liability. Port shall be named as an additional 
insured on Lessee's Commercial General Liability insurance policy using ISO Additional Insured-
Managers or Lessors of Premises Form CG 20 11 or a substitute endorsement providing at least 
as broad coverage. 

19.4 Minimum Amounts of Insurance. Lessee shall maintain Commercial General 
Liability insurance which shall be written with limits no less than $1,000,000 each occurrence, 
$2,000,000 general aggregate. Lessee shall maintain environmental or pollution liability insurance 
for fueling operations and cover the gradual, sudden and accidental discharge or spill of pollutants 
including first party cleanup and remediation of the Premises. The policy shall be in an amount of 
not less than $1 million per claim. Lessee warrants that any retroactive date on the policy shall 
precede the effective date of this lease. If Lessee is conducting a Commercial Aeronautical 
Activity, the Lessee shall maintain those limits set forth in the Minimum Standards for Commercial 
Aeronautical Activity adopted by the City. 



 

 

19.5 Other Insurance Provisions. The Lessee's Commercial General Liability insurance 
policy or policies are to contain or be endorsed to contain that they shall be primary insurance as 
respects Port. Any Insurance, self-insurance, or self-insured pool coverage maintained by Port 
shall be excess of the Lessee's insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

19.6 Acceptability of Insurers. Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. 
Best rating of not less than A: VII. 

19.7 Verification of Coverage. Lessee shall furnish Port with certificates and a copy of 
the amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the additional insured 
endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Lessee. 

19.8 Notice of Cancellation. The Lessee shall provide Port with written notice of any 
policy cancellation within two business days of their receipt of such notice. 

19.9 Failure to Maintain Insurance. Failure on the part of the Lessee to maintain the 
insurance as required shall constitute a material breach of lease, upon which Port may, after giving 
ten (10) business days' notice to the Lessee to correct the breach, terminate the Lease or, at its 
discretion, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connection 
therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to Port on demand. 

19.10 Port Full Availability of Lessee Limits. If the Lessee maintains higher insurance 
limits than the minimums shown above, Port shall be insured for the full available limits of 
Commercial General and Excess or Umbrella liability maintained by the Lessee, irrespective of 
whether such limits maintained by the Lessee are greater than those required by this contract or 
whether any certificate of insurance furnished to Port evidences limits of liability lower than those 
maintained by the Lessee. 
 

20. MUTUAL RELEASE AND WAIVER. To the extent a loss is covered by insurance in force, 
Port and Lessee hereby mutually release each other from liability and waive all right of recovery 
against each other for any loss from perils insured against under their respective fire insurance 
policies, including any extended coverage endorsements hereto; provided that this Agreement 
shall be inapplicable if it would have the effect of invalidating any insurance coverage of Port or 
Lessee. 

 
21. NOTICE. All notices and consents hereunder shall be given in writing, delivered in person 

or mailed by certified mail, postage pre-paid, to the receiving party at its address below, or to 
such other address as the receiving party may notify the sender beforehand referring to this 
lease. 

 
22. GOVERNMENTAL FEES. All fees due under applicable law to the City, County or State on 

account of any inspection made on leased premises by any officer thereof, shall be paid by 
Lessee. 

 
23. SIGNS. All signs and symbols placed in the windows or doors or elsewhere about the 

premises, or upon the exterior part of the building, shall be subject to the approval of Port or Port's 
agents. Any signs so placed on the premises shall be so placed upon the understanding and 
agreement that Lessee will remove same at the termination of the tenancy herein created and 
repair any damage or injury to the premises caused thereby, and if not so removed by Lessee, 
then Port may have the same removed at Lessee's expense. Lessee shall in respect to signs 
conform to all requests of the Port of Benton Sign Policy, and pay applicable fees. 

 
24. ALTERATIONS. Lessee shall not make any alterations, additions or improvements to any 

building, not owned by Lessee and placed on said premises without consent of Port in writing first 
hand obtained, and all alterations, additions and improvements which shall be made, shall be at 
the sole cost and expense of Lessee, and shall become the property of Port, and shall remain 
in and be surrendered with the premises as a part thereof at the termination of this lease, 
without disturbance, molestation or injury. In addition, for any building which is owned by the 



 

 

Lessee and placed on the premises, Lessee shall not make any alterations, additions or 
improvements without consent of Port in writing first hand obtained, if such consent is required by 
law or regulation, and all alterations, additions and improvements which shall be made, shall 
be at the sole cost and expense of Lessee and if Port decides at the end of the lease to 
accept a deed or other conveyance of the building, all alterations, additions and 
improvements shall remain in and be surrendered with the premises as a part thereof without 
disturbance, molestation or injury. If Lessee shall perform work with the consent of Port, as 
aforesaid, Lessee agrees to comply with all laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of the 
pertinent and authorized public authorities.   Lessee further agrees to save Port free and 
harmless from damage, loss or expense arising out of the said work. Heating systems, 
plumbing systems (including hot water tanks) and all lighting and electrical systems and parts 
thereof shall be considered fixtures, and become part of the real estate upon being installed 
in any building. 
 

25. DEFAULT AND RE-ENTRY. 
 

25.1 EVENTS OF DEFAULT.  Each of the following events shall be a default by 
Lessee and a breach of this Lease. 

 
25.1.1 The failure or refusal to pay when due any installment of rent or other 

sum required by this Lease to be paid by Lessee or the failure to perform as required or 
conditioned by any other covenant or condition of this Lease. 

25.1.2 The appointment of a receiver to take possession of the Property or 
improvements or of Lessee's interest in the leasehold estate or of Lessee's operations on the 
Property for any reason, unless such appointment is dismissed, vacated or otherwise 
permanently stayed or terminated within sixty (60) days after the appointment. 

25.1.3 An assignment by Lessee for the benefit of creditors or the filing of a 
voluntary or involuntary petition by or against Lessee under any law for the purpose of 
adjudicating Lessee a bankrupt; or for extending time for payment, adjustment or satisfaction 
of Lessee's liability; or for reorganization, dissolution or arrangement on account of or to 
prevent bankruptcy or insolvency, unless the assignment or proceeding and all consequent 
orders, adjudications, custodies and supervision are dismissed, vacated or otherwise 
permanently stayed or terminated within sixty (60) days after the assignment, filing or other 
initial event. 

25.2 NOTICE.  As a precondition to pursuing any remedy for an alleged default by 
Lessee, Port shall give written notice of default to Lessee in the manner herein specified for 
the giving of notices.  Each notice of default shall specify the alleged event of default and the 
intended remedy.   

25.3 LESSEE'S RIGHT TO CURE.  If the alleged default is nonpayment of rent, 
taxes or other sums to be paid by Lessee as provided in this Lease, Lessee shall have ten 
(10) days after receipt of written notice to cure the default.  For the cure of any other default, 
Lessee shall have thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice to cure the default, provided, 
however, that if it takes more than thirty (30) days to cure a default, the Lessee shall not be in 
default if it promptly undertakes a cure and diligently pursues it. 

25.4 TIME OF THE ESSENCE.  Time is of the essence of this Lease and for each 
and every covenant or condition which must be performed hereunder. 

25.5 RE-ENTRY If Lessee shall violate or default in any of the covenants and 
agreements therein contained where such violation or default shall continue for longer than 
the period contained within 26.3, then Port may terminate this lease upon giving the notice 
required by law, and re-enter said premises. Notwithstanding such re-entry by Port, the liability 
of Lessee for the rent provided for herein shall not be extinguished for the balance of the term of 
this lease, and Lessee covenants and agrees to make good to Port any deficiency arising from a 
re-entry and re-letting of the premises at a lesser rental than herein agreed to. Lessee shall pay 



 

 

such deficiency each month as the amount thereof is ascertained by Port, together with leasehold 
tax. 
 

26. PORT'S REMEDIES.  If any default by Lessee continues uncured after receipt of written 
notice of default and the period to cure as required by this Lease for the period applicable to the 
default, subject to the provisions of Section 12, the Port has the following remedies in addition to 
all other rights and remedies provided by law or equity to which Port may resort cumulatively or in 
the alternative: 

 
26.1 Without terminating this Lease, Port shall be entitled to recover from Lessee any 

amounts due hereunder or any damages arising out of the violation or failure of Lessee to perform 
any covenant, condition or provision of this Lease. 

 
26.2 Port may elect to terminate this Lease and any and all interest and claim of Lessee 

by virtue of such lease, whether such interest or claim is existing or prospective, and to terminate 
all interest of Lessee in the Property and any improvements or fixtures thereon (except trade 
fixtures).  In the event this Lease is terminated, all obligations and indebtedness of Lessee to Port 
arising out of this Lease prior to the date of termination shall survive such termination.  In the 
event of termination by Port, Port shall be entitled to recover immediately as damages the total of 
the following amounts: 

 
26.2.1 The reasonable costs of re entry and re-letting, including, but not limited to, 

any expenses of cleaning, repairing, altering, remodeling, refurbishing, removing Lessee's 
property or any other expenses incurred in recovering possession of the Property or re-letting the 
Property, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney's fees, court costs, broker's 
commissions and advertising expense. 

 
26.2.2 The loss of rental on the Property accruing until the date when a new 

Lessee has been or with the exercise of reasonable diligence could have been obtained. 
 

26.3  Port may re-enter the Property and take possession thereof and remove any 
persons and property by legal action or by self-help and without liability for damages and Lessee 
shall indemnify and hold the Port harmless from any claim or demand arising out of such re-entry 
and removal of persons and property.  Such re-entry by the Port shall not terminate the Lease or 
release the Lessee from any obligations under the Lease.  In the event Port re-enters the Property 
for the purpose of re-letting, Port may re-let all or some portion of the Property, alone or in 
conjunction with other properties, for a term longer or shorter than the term of this Lease, upon 
any reasonable terms and conditions, including the granting of a period of rent-free occupancy or 
other rental concession, and Port may not be required to re-let to any Lessee which Port may 
reasonably consider objectionable. 

 
26.4 In the event Port re-lets the Property as agent for Lessee, Port shall be entitled to 

recover immediately as damages the total of the following amounts. 
 

26.4.1 An amount equal to the total rental coming due for the remainder of the term 
of this Lease, computed based upon the periodic rent provided for herein and without discount or 
reduction for the purpose of adjusting such amount to present value of anticipated future 
payments, less any payments thereafter applied against such total rent by virtue of the new lease. 

 
26.4.2 The reasonable costs of re entry and re-letting, including, but not limited to, 

any expense of cleaning, repairing, altering, remodeling, refurbishing, removing Lessee's property 
or any other expenses incurred in recovering possession of the Property or re-letting the Property, 
including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees, court costs, broker's commissions and advertising 



 

 

expense. 
 

26.5 All payments received by Port from re-letting shall be applied upon indebtedness 
and damages owing to Port from Lessee, if any, and the balance shall be remitted to Lessee. 
 

27. COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES. If by reason of any default on the part of either party, 
litigation is commenced to enforce any provision of this lease or to recover for breach of any 
provision of this lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other party's 
reasonable attorney fees in such amount as is fixed by the court, and all costs and expenses 
incurred by reason of the breach or default by the other under this lease. Arbitration is an action or 
proceeding for the purpose of this provision.  The "prevailing party" means the party determined 
by the court or the arbitrator to most nearly have prevailed. 

 
28. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES IN CERTAIN INSTANCE. If by reason of any breach of this 

lease by Lessee, Port gives written notice to Lessee of termination of this lease or any notice to 
pay rent or vacate to perform a covenant or cease breaching any covenant or agreement herein, 
and if Lessee remedies said breach and the termination of the lease is not carried through and 
Lessee continues as a Lessee, then each such time at the option of Port, Lessee shall and does 
hereby covenant to pay to Port as liquidated damages within ten (10) days after mailing by Port by 
ordinary first class mail of a demand to pay such sum, the sum of Three Hundred Dollars 
($300.00). Failure to pay such sum within such time shall be considered as an additional breach of 
the covenants of this lease. 

 
29. NON-WAIVER OF BREACH. The failure of either party to insist upon strict performance of 

any of the covenants and agreements of this lease, or to exercise any option herein conferred in 
any one or more instances, shall not be construed to be a waiver or relinquishment of any such 
strict performance or of the exercise of such option, or any other covenants or agreements but the 
same shall be and remain in full force and effect. 

 
30. REMOVAL OF PROPERTY. In the event of any entry in, or taking possession of, the 

leased premises as aforesaid, Port shall have the right, but not the obligation, to remove from the 
leased premises all personal property located therein or thereon, and may store the same in any 
place selected by Port, including but not limited to a public warehouse, at the expense and risk of 
the owners thereof, with the right to sell such stored property without notice to Lessee, after it has 
been stored for a period of at least sixty (60) days, the proceeds of such sale to be applied first to 
the cost of such sale, second to the payment of the charges for storage, if any, and third to the 
payment of any other sums of money which may then be due from Lessee to Port under any of the 
terms hereof, and the balance, if any, to be paid to Lessee. 
 

31. HEIRS AND SUCCESSORS. Subject to the provisions hereof pertaining to assignment 
and subletting, the covenants and agreements of this lease shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns of 
any or all of the parties hereto. 

 
32. HOLD OVER. If Lessee shall, with the written consent of Port, hold over after the 

expiration of the term of this lease, such tenancy shall become a month to month tenancy as 
provided by the laws of the State of Washington. During such tenancy Lessee agrees to pay 
Port the an amount equal to one hundred twenty five percent of the equivalent of the rental for 
the last month of the lease, unless a different rate is agreed upon, and to be bound by all of 
the terms, covenants and conditions as herein specified, so far as applicable. 

 
33. SECURITY FOR LESSEE'S OBLIGATIONS.  In addition to the security provided for in 

Section 6 of the Lease (or any other Section of the Lease entitled “Security”), in order to secure 



 

 

the prompt, full and complete performance of all of Lessee's obligations under this Lease, 
including, but not limited to, Lessee's obligations to protect and indemnify Port from any liability 
subject to the lien, if any, of the holder of the first mortgage against the property, Lessee hereby 
grants to Port a security interest in and assigns to Port all of Lessee's right, title and interest in and 
to all rents and profits from the Property, any personal property located upon the premises and 
improvements thereon, and all equipment, fixtures and furnishings in the premises as collateral to 
secure all of Lessee's obligations under this Lease as collateral to secure all of Lessee's 
obligations under this Lease.  In the event Lessee defaults in any of its obligations hereunder, Port 
shall have the right at any time after the period for cure provided in paragraph 17.3, without notice 
or demand, to collect all rents and profits directly and apply all sums so collected to satisfy 
Lessee's obligations hereunder, including payment to Port of any sums due from Lessee.  The 
assignment of rents to the Port shall be subordinate to any assignment of rents to a leasehold 
mortgagee for security purposes.  Such remedy shall be in addition to all other remedies under 
this Lease. 
 

34. RESTRICTIONS AND CONSENTS. This lease shall be and is subject to all the terms, 
covenants, restrictions, reservations and agreements contained 
in____________________________________________________. This lease is also subject to 
the most current and any future federal grant obligations, Airport rules and regulations, Airport 
Minimum Standards and policies’, including the written consent of the Federal Aviation Agency if 
the leased premises are to be used for other than airport purposes. This lease is also subject to 
the most current and any future federal grant obligations, Airport rules and regulations, Airport 
Minimum Standards and policies. 

 
35. LANDSCAPING. Lessee covenants to landscape the grounds pursuant to the provisions of 

the Port Municipal Code, in order to make the entire premises attractive both for the beneficial 
effect it will have upon commercial property at the airport and as an example to and in order to 
encourage other tenants to do the same. The landscape and drainage plan shall be submitted to 
Port at the same time as the building and plot plans herein before mentioned. Failure of Lessee to 
fully carry out this agreement shall be a breach of covenant of this lease. 

 
36. MAINTENANCE OF GROUNDS. Lessee covenants to maintain the rented premises and 

the materials installed and used in landscaping the premises in a neat, sightly, and attractive 
condition at all times, and to water and care for the same in a professional manner. Failure of the 
lessee to fully carry out this covenant shall be a breach of covenant of this lease. 

 
37. STORAGE OF MATERIALS, SUPPLIES. ETC. Lessee covenants to not store or deposit 

materials, supplies or other objects on the leased premises without the permission of Port and 
only then by the erection of a sight-obscuring fence or hedge which is acceptable to Port. Non-
aeronautical items shall not be stored on premises leased for aeronautical purposes. Failure of 
Lessee to fully carry out this agreement shall be a breach of covenant of this lease. 

 
38. MOTOR VEHICLE PARKING ON PREMISES. Lessee shall provide on the leased 

premises in accordance with an approved plan and specifications sufficient parking facilities 
for all motor vehicles in connection with Lessee's business, and shall at all times see that all such 
vehicles park within the leased premises. 
 

39. REIMBURSEMENT FOR COST OF SURVEY. If Port shall have had the premises herein 
surveyed for the purpose of this lease, Lessee shall within ten (10) days after being billed by Port 
thereof, reimburse Port for the cost of such surveying. 

 
40. VENUE. The venue of any suit which may be brought by either party under the terms of 

this lease or growing out of the tenancy under this lease shall at the option of Port be in court or 



 

 

courts in Benton County, Washington. 
 
41. SITE PLAN. Development of the site shall be in strict compliance with the site plan 

submitted to and approved by the City and the Port. Any deviations from the site plan shall require 
written approval by the City and Port. Where reference is made in this lease to a plot plan or site 
plan, it is understood and agreed between the parties that such plan must include as a minimum 
those matters hereinafter set forth and shall be in the form of a scale drawing of the entire leased 
premises with all of those matters set forth to scale and legibly thereon: 

 
a. Location of all structures and sizes and heights thereof, together with size, height, and 

location of any future structures which Lessee anticipates may be placed on the premises. 
b. Location of all roads, driveways, entrances, and exits. 
c. Location of all parking areas and description of method of delineating such areas by 

curbs or other methods. 
d. Location of all utilities, including but not limited to those hereinafter mentioned in this 

paragraph, and in case of underground utilities, mention thereof. 
e. Landscaping. (See other paragraph(s) of this lease for further details.) 
f. Open storage areas, and methods of screening such areas if such screening is to be done. 

(See Paragraph 34 hereof.) 
g. Interior and exterior drainage. 
h. Location and type of all fencing and gates. 
i. Site and exterior building lighting. 
j. Location of runways, taxiways, taxilanes and ramps and their distances from all 

proposed structures. 
 

42. RIGHT OF FLIGHT. There is hereby reserved to Port, its successors and assigns, for the 
use and benefit of Port and the public, a right of flight for the passage of aircraft in the airspace 
above the surface of the Premises herein leased, together with the right to cause in said airspace 
such noise as may be inherent in the operation of aircraft, nor known or hereafter used for 
navigation of or flight in the air, using said airspace or landing at, taking off from and operating 
aircraft on or over the Port Municipal Airport, all in accordance with applicable safety and operating 
regulations of said Airport and the Federal Aviation Administration. Lessee shall not allow any 
structures or objects to be erected or located upon the premises which would penetrate the 
imaginary surfaces described in Part 77 of the Federal Aviation Regulations. 
  



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
 
AFTER RECORDING, RETURN TO: 
 
PORT OF BENTON  
3250 Port of Benton Blvd 
Richland, WA 99354 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (IF APPLICABLE) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The parties to this Development Agreement ("Agreement") are the Port of Benton, a 
Washington municipal corporation ("City"), and __________________, LLC, a Washington limited 
liability company ("Developer"). All references herein to Developer shall be deemed to include any 
of its successors and/or assigns. The parties enter into this Agreement to promote the 
development of certain real property located within the Port of Benton. 
 

RECITALS 
 
 
TO BE DRAFTED 

Developer/Owner
 

______________________, LLC, a Washington  limited 
liability company 

Grantee: Port of Benton, Washington, a Washington 
municipal corporation 

Abbreviated Legal 
 

A Portion of the NE 1/4 of Section 28, Township 31 N, 
Range 5 

        
Assessor's Tax Parcel ID 

 
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

 
Reference Nos. of Related 

 
N/A 


	22-03-09 - Cover Page
	22-03-09 - Agenda
	22-02-16 - Draft Minutes
	22-02-18 - Draft Minutes
	22-02 - Voucher Certification and Approval
	22-02 - PR Voucher Certification and Approval
	RES 22-12
	22-03 Grants Status Report
	Default Airport Lease and General Terms and Conditions - Draft



